# **NOTE TO USERS**

Page(s) not included in the original manuscript and are unavailable from the author or university. The manuscript was scanned as received.

pg 22

This reproduction is the best copy available.



# DIFFERENTIATING CHILDREN WITH AND WITHOUT A HISTORY OF REPEATED PROBLEMATIC SEXUAL BEHAVIOURS FOLLOWING ADULT REPRIMAND

by

Tracey Curwen

A thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Human Development and Applied Psychology

Ontario Institute for Studies in Education of the

University of Toronto

©Copyright by Tracey Curwen (2007)



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-27968-7 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-27968-7

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

#### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant.



# Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours following adult reprimand

Doctor of Philosophy, 2007

Tracey Curwen

Department of Human Development and Applied Psychology
University of Toronto

#### **Abstract**

The goal of the current study was to determine factors that differentiate children who repeated and did not repeat inappropriate sexual behaviours following adult reprimand. A literature review revealed 33 factors likely related to repeated sexual behaviours. Predictive accuracy of these factors was investigated in 62 children (9 females) recently assessed for problematic sexual behaviours. The children were divided into those with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours following adult reprimand. A relationship was found between eight individual factors and group membership and the combination of these factors demonstrated accuracy in identifying group membership. The results indicate factors that may assist in identifying children who require intervention and those likely only requiring adult reprimand to deter continued problematic sexual behaviours.

#### Acknowledgements

This study would not have been possible without the supervision of my committee and the support and contribution of many colleagues, friends, and treatment providers.

I must start by thanking my committee, as it was their unwavering support that allowed this dissertation to be completed. I am sincerely indebted to my academic advisor, Dr. Jennifer Jenkins, for her consistent support, guidance, and cultivation of my interests. Jenny provided an exceptionally open and collaborative atmosphere wherein which I couldn't help but grow. I am grateful to Dr. James R. Worling for willingly sharing his knowledge, providing advice, and for continuously supporting my academic and research interests. I thank Dr. Michele Peterson-Badali for her interest in and insightful comments on the study. I am also grateful to Dr. Ian Lambie for his interest in my work and for participating as the external examiner on my final defense committee.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all those clinicians who provided the data for this study: Dana Bozzato. Todd Elliot, Susanne Enright, Nancy Falls, Sarah Frankle, Karen Hasentus, Katrina Holz, Colleen Kamps, Kim Madden, Phyllis Ohm, Lynne Reese, Barb Rogers, and Susan Strickland. I would also like to acknowledge Joan Boutilier, Darryl Hall, Karyn Kennedy, Kathy Prentice, Dr. Phil Rich, Barbara Rogers, and Seigi Schuler for encouraging and supporting the data collection within the programs that they manage and coordinate. I am also grateful to Jim Shea and Kathy Sdao-Jarvie for seeing the value of this project and for providing implementation advice.

I thank my colleagues, Dr. Dana Costin, Michael Davis, and Kim Madden for reviewing the factors, for providing preliminary data, and for willingly discussing the factors with me. I am appreciative of the feedback I received on the factors from Dr. William

Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours

Friedrich, Dr. Eliana Gil, and Dr. Toni Cavenagh-Johnson and I am also very grateful for their interest in the study and for ensuring me of the importance of this work.

I am indebted to Dr. Dana Costin for her comments on this paper and for always being willing to discuss this topic and share her thoughts. I am so very grateful to my sister, Diane Fahey, for her willingness to enter and organize all of the data; Diane will never know the frustration she saved me from. I also thank Elena Angeloni and Annie Simpson for their comments on much earlier versions of this paper.

Finally, I am so very grateful to Glynn Sharpe for his unwavering support, for his confidence in me, and for openly accepting this study as an additional member of our household. I thank my mother, Cilla Curwen, for her words of wisdom, her patience, and her constant support throughout what must have felt like a never-ending academic process. I am thankful that I have Quinn, Kevin, James, and William in my life; they constantly show me the joy of childhood, the preciousness of children, and the value of this work. I only hope that my study will contribute to improving the lives of many children.

## **Table of Contents**

| Chapter 1  | 1    |
|--|------|
| Introduction   | 1    |
| Background   | 1    |
| Normal Childhood Sexual Behaviour  | 4    |
| Problematic Childhood Sexual Behaviour   | 6    |
| Differentiating children who repeat from those who do not repeat sexual behaviour_ | _ 10 |
| Risk Assessment Protocols  | _ 13 |
| Summary  | _ 15 |
| Current Study  | _ 16 |
| Part 1: Determining potential factors for inclusion in main study                  | _ 17 |
| Part II: Finalizing factors for inclusion in main study                            | _ 18 |
| Interrater agreement   | _ 19 |
| Part III: Main Study   | _ 20 |
| Chapter 2  | _ 23 |
| Method   | 23   |
| Ethical Approval   | _ 23 |
| Participants   | 23   |
| Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria   | 24   |
| Measures   | _ 24 |
| Demographic information  | _ 24 |
| Child gender   | 25   |

| Child age  | 25 |
|--|----|
| Ethnic background  | 25 |
| Current Residence  |    |
| Family involved in assessment                            | 25 |
| Primary guardians  | 25 |
| Education  | 25 |
| Puberty  | 25 |
| Age of first and last sexual behaviour                   | 25 |
| Risk Factors   | 25 |
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviours Characteristics                    | 26 |
| Use of Force/Threat/Violence                             | 26 |
| Coercion/Manipulation                                    | 26 |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours                             | 26 |
| Penetration  | 27 |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours                      | 27 |
| Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies                                | 27 |
| Distorted Sexual Beliefs                                 | 27 |
| Lacks Understanding of Consequences of Sexual Behaviours | 27 |
| Sophisticated Sexual Behaviours                          | 27 |
| Denial   | 27 |
| 2.0 Victimization  |    |
| Victim of Sexual Abuse                                   |    |
| Arousal during own Sexual Victimization                  | 28 |

| Trauma from own Sexual Victimization                        |    |
|---|----|
| Arousal to Memories of own Sexual Victimization             | 28 |
| Multiple Sexual Offenders                                   | 28 |
| Impact of Nonsexual Victimization                           | 28 |
| Witnessed Violence  | 28 |
| 3.0 Interpersonal Characteristics                           | 28 |
| Social Skill Deficits                                       | 28 |
| History of Nonsexual Aggression                             | 28 |
| 4.0 Personal Characteristics                                | 29 |
| Impulsivity   | 29 |
| Poor Self-Esteem  | 29 |
| 5.0 Family Environment                                      | 29 |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries/Sexualized Family Environment | 29 |
| Negative Home Environment                                   | 29 |
| Family Instability  | 29 |
| Parental/ Guardian Rejection                                | 29 |
| 6.0 Intervention  | 29 |
| Treatment/Intervention                                      | 29 |
| Total Score   | 30 |
| Repeated/Nonrepeated group membership                       |    |
| Nonrepeated Group   | 31 |
| Repeated Group  | 31 |
| Procedure & Analytic Plan                                   | 32 |

## Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours

| Factor coding                                       | 32         |
|---|------------|
| Comparing groups on demographic data                | 33         |
| Comparing groups on factors                         | 33         |
| Chapter 3   | 35         |
| Results   | 35         |
| Factor Coding                                       | 35         |
| Differentiating repeated from nonrepeated children  | 37         |
| Comparing groups on demographic data                | 37         |
| Initial group comparison on factors                 | 38         |
| Exploring potentially confounding variables         | 38         |
| Exploring the coding scheme                         | 39         |
| Accuracy of factors in identifying group membership | 40         |
| Chapter 4   | 43         |
| Discussion  | 43         |
| Limitations   | 50         |
| DC.   | <i>5</i> / |

## **List of Tables**

| Table 1: Potential Risk factors identified on the basis of literature review.               | _ 60 |
|---|------|
| Table 2: Factor and coding descriptions.  | _61  |
| Table 3: Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for all factors.                          | _65  |
| Table 4: Percentage of children coded in each category and missing responses for all factor | ors  |
| in main study   | _ 66 |
| Table 5: Nominal demographic data for the repeated and nonrepeated groups.                  | _ 67 |
| Table 6: Means and standard deviations for data assessed as continuous measures for the     |      |
| repeated and nonrepeated groups.  | _ 68 |
| Table 7: Comparing the repeated and nonrepeated groups on the presence of each factor.      | _ 69 |
| Table 8: Comparison of coding scheme in differentiating repeated and nonrepeated group      | s.70 |
| Table 9: Item-total correlations and comparisons of predictive accuracy between the Total   | i    |
| Score and individual factors with and without missing data.                                 | _ 70 |
| List of Appendices  |      |
| Appendix A: Consent form  | _ 71 |
| Appendix R: Inclusion criteria  | 72.  |

#### **Dedication**

This dissertation is dedicated to James Shea and Dr. William Friedrich. Both were highly supportive of this study but sadly, both died during the course of writing this paper.

Jim was the director of Peel Collaborative Child and Adolescent Sexual Abuse

Treatment Program (PCC-ASATP) at the Peel Children's Centre. PCC-ASATP is a program in the Peel Region of Ontario that is devoted to providing assessment and treatment for children who engage in problematic sexual behaviours, sexually offending adolescents, and victims of sexual abuse. Jim was also instrumental in building a residential program for adolescents who have sexually offended and he ensured that this program provided respectful and supportive services and care to the residents. Jim encouraged this study and he believed in the value and importance of this work. Jim was a kind, generous, and compassionate man who believed in the goodness of children and adolescents, regardless of their behaviours. I feel fortunate to have worked with such a kind man.

Anyone working in this field will be aware of the work of Dr. Friedrich and the impact of his research on our current knowledge of child sexual behaviour. Prior to starting this study, I had not had any contact with Dr. Friedrich, although I was well aware of his work. He willingly reviewed the factors that I had suggested and took the time to correspond with me on these factors and the utility of them. He expressed great support for this study and he was interested in the outcome; sadly, I did not get the opportunity to share my results with him. I am very thankful to Dr. Friedrich for graciously taking time to correspond with me and to encourage this work. No doubt, Dr. Friedrich's untimely passing will greatly impact this field.

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

In recent years, considerable attention has been paid to the characteristics of children who engage in problematic sexual behaviours. Generally, knowledge and understanding of these children has improved; however, much of this literature is based on etiology of the sexual behaviour and general characteristics of these children. There has been little attempt to distinguish children who repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours from those children who do not repeat such behaviours. Although incidence rates of repeated problematic sexual behaviours by children are unknown, recent research has demonstrated that many adolescents commenced their sexual aggression as children (Burton, 2000; Wieckowski, Hartsoe, Mayer, & Shortz, 1998). Knowledge of the factors that differentiate children who repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours from children whose sexual behaviours stop following adult reprimands for the behaviours could assist in identifying those children who need intervention to stop their problematic sexual behaviours.

#### **Background**

Although many children engage in what are considered "normal" or age-appropriate sexual behaviours, there are some children whose sexual behaviours are considered age-inappropriate. Clinicians tend to agree that when an adult discovers that a child has been involved in inappropriate sexual behaviours, his/her first intervention should be to tell the child that the sexual behaviour is not appropriate, provide the child with reasons why the sexual behaviour is inappropriate, and instruct the child that the sexual behaviour must not be repeated. In some cases, once reprimanded for the inappropriate sexual behaviours, the child

Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours 2

stops engaging in them; however, there are children who, regardless of being reprimanded, continually engage in harmful and inappropriate sexual behaviours. Such differences (i.e. repeating vs. not repeating the sexual behaviours following reprimand) may be critical with respect to allocation of, often limited, resources for intervention. The goal of the current study was to determine whether specific factors differentiate these groups of children in order to assist in early identification of those children who will likely require additional intervention efforts.

There is little consensus as to the terminology that should be used to describe the quality or extent of childhood problematic sexual behaviours. Currently, the terms used to describe the harmful sexual behaviours that some children engage in include: abusive. inappropriate, molesting, or problematic sexual behaviour. This inconsistency in terminology highlights the confusion amongst professionals (Staiger, 2005). Moreover, the lack of consistency in terminology is not surprising given that there is no international minimum age at which a person can be held criminally responsible. The age of criminal responsibility ranges from 6 to 18. Some countries, such as Australia and Switzerland have criminal responsibility set at 7 years of age while the laws of other countries such as Chile, Portugal, and Denmark have the age of criminal responsibility set at 15 or 16 (UNICEF, 2002). In Canada, as in a number of other countries, 12 years is the youngest age at which a person can be criminally charged. These differing ages of criminal responsibility have likely contributed to the language used in relation to children who engage in problematic sexual behaviours. For example, using terms such as "molesting", "abuse", "recidivism" (to indicate repeated behaviour) and "victim" connote an element of criminal activity that some believe should not be associated, in any way, with a child. On the other hand, there are also

treatment providers who are not opposed to referring to a child as an "offender" or as having "sexually assaulted" another which, again, may be a function of the laws governing the practitioner's clinical practice.

Regardless of the terminology used, it is important to note that although children engaging in problematic sexual behaviours cannot be criminally charged in Canada, the behaviours engaged in by some children are clearly in violation of another individual. In addition, these behaviours may be harmful to both the child and his/her victim. In this paper, the term "problematic sexual behaviour" is utilized to encompass any sexual behaviour that would be viewed by those in the field as uncommon, age-inappropriate, or harmful; however, this term should not be construed in any way as a minimization of the extent or impact of the behaviours. The term "victim" is used to refer to the individual against whom the child engaged in the sexual behaviours. In the strictest definition, a victim is one who has been "killed or hurt" and/or who has been "cheated or tricked" (Webster's, 1997). Nowhere in the definition of "victim" must the executor of the behaviours that render somebody a victim be over a specified age. To avoid calling those who have been impacted by the sexual behaviours of a child anything other than a victim would be to minimize the impact, extent of harm, and unwanted nature of the sexual behaviours that were inflicted on that person.

The field has far to go in understanding children with sexual behaviour problems and in gaining some consistency in the terminology considered acceptable to describe the behaviours of these children. However, there has been some consensus regarding the problematic sexual behaviours children engage in that are appropriate and those considered unacceptable and potentially harmful to others. The following provides an overview of both appropriate and inappropriate sexual behaviours for children under 12 years.

#### Normal Childhood Sexual Behaviour

Sexual behaviours and physical sexual responses are a normal and natural part of child development (Araji, 1997; Friedrich et al., 1998; Johnson, 1993a). Sexuality begins in utero where erections and orgasms can occur (Johnson, 1993) and psychosexual development starts in infancy and continues throughout development (Friedrich et al., 1991). Until recently, however, there has been some confusion as to what constitutes normal childhood sexual behaviour (Friedrich & Trane, 2002).

Friedrich, along with colleagues, conducted a number of studies designed to identify normative childhood sexual behaviours (see Friedrich et al., 1992; Friedrich, Grambsch, Broughton, Kuiper, & Beilke, 1991; Friedrich, Fisher, Broughton, Houston, & Shafran, 1998). Investigations of age appropriate and normative sexual behaviours have utilized reports regarding the sexual behaviours of victims and nonvictims of sexual abuse, maternal reports of their child's sexual behaviours, and daycare staff reports of the sexual behaviours of children in their care. Most of these investigations have revealed that children engage in a variety of sexual behaviours that vary over the course of development. Many have described common and appropriate sexual behaviours based on the age group of the children under investigation; most discussions of childhood sexual behaviours refer to the following age groups: birth to 5 or 6, 5 or 6 to 10, and approximately 10 to 12. The importance of considering age in the study of childhood sexual behaviours has been stressed repeatedly because what is common at one developmental stage may not be common at another (Friedrich et al. 1998).

Between birth and 5 or 6 years of age, children can experience sexual responses such as erections, lubrication, and pelvic thrusting; however, these behaviours and responses are

not necessarily a conscious attempt to achieve orgasm, as would be the case for adults (Johnson, 1993a; Rutter, 1971). Gil (1993a) reported that children from birth to 4 years of age engage in self-stimulation and self-exploration, but also have limited peer contact (e.g. poking others' bodies, showing genitals). These self-focused sexual behaviours in the younger age group are not surprising given the limited peer contact at these ages. Based on maternal report, more sexual behaviours were reported for children aged 2 to 5, with steady decreases after that age point (Friedrich, et al., 1998). However, with children leaving the regular care of their mothers and entering the school system, it is possible that the decrease in maternal reported child sexual behaviour is a function of less time spent with the child.

Around ages 5 to 7, the sexual behaviour of children reportedly shifts from self to other. During these ages, children tend to have more peer contact as a result of entering the school system; therefore, they engage in more sexual behaviours with others. Children's behaviours at this age tend to involve more focused behaviours such as kissing and hand holding; they also may become curious about the human body, start to require privacy, and indicate shyness regarding sexuality (Gil, 1993a). However, Gil (1993a) notes that, even though young school-aged children are more engaged in experimental interactions with others, they still tend to remain somewhat subdued or repressed in their sexual contact with peers (Gil, 1993a).

By the time children reach ages 7 to 12, they are generally at a stage of experimental interactions (Gil, 1993a). At this age, peer sexualized contact can increase, children may touch each other over and under the clothing, and sexual behaviours may include intercourse (Gil, 1993a), although sexual intercourse under 12 years is not overly common (Haugaard & Tilly, 1988).

Sexual exploration and contact between children is a normal part of child development and children tend to move through clear stages of sexual behaviour as they age. Overall, a number of sexual behaviours are very common at varying ages and the most frequently reported behaviours include self-stimulation, exhibitionism, and behaviours related to personal boundaries (Friedrich et al., 1998). In addition, sexual interactions tend to progress from self-exploration to physical contact with others. Age appropriate sexual behaviours with others have been described as fairly inhibited explorations and normative sexual behaviours are mutual and playful.

#### Problematic Childhood Sexual Behaviour

While exploring age appropriate sexual behaviours, researchers found that a small number of children engage in less common sexual behaviours. Given the infrequency of these sexual behaviours and the small number of children engaging in them, certain sexual behaviours would be considered uncommon and inappropriate in the general child population. Children identified as engaging in problematic sexual behaviour may be involved in either developmentally inappropriate (e.g. penetration, oral-genital contact, etc.) or developmentally appropriate but contextually inappropriate (e.g. public self-stimulation, etc.) sexual behaviours. These uncommon sexual behaviours also include sexual acts that, if engaged in over 12 years of age, could be considered a chargeable offence under Canadian law. Although a number of the offence related sexual behaviours are based on age criteria (e.g. a charge of Sexual Interference stipulates that the victim must be under 14, see Brayton, 2000), many of these can be helpful in understanding problematic sexual behaviours in child populations. The similarity between chargeable sexual behaviours and the behaviours being

engaged in by some children assists in emphasizing that these childhood sexual behaviours should not be overlooked and that their impact should not be underestimated.

In a study of childhood sexual behaviours, certain sexual behaviours were reported with little frequency across all childhood age groups (Friedrich et al., 1998). For example, Friedrich et al., (1998) reported that very few children ask others to engage in sexual acts, insert objects in their rectum/vagina, attempt intercourse, touch the genitals of an animal, engage in oral-genital contact, undress other children, rub their body against others, and pretend that toys are having sex. As these sexual acts are statistically uncommon for children under 12 years of age, they are considered unusual and are viewed with concern. There is less statistical evidence to indicate how often children utilize specific strategies to gain the compliance of another in sexual behaviours. For example, it is not clear how many children "trick" other children into exposing themselves or how many children "bribe" other children into allowing themselves to be touched sexually. However, there is some consensus regarding which methods are inappropriate when used by a child to initiate or engage in sexual contact with another and many are considered unacceptable regardless of the age of the executor. Often, the issue of consent or gaining compliance is involved in rendering the child's behaviours as inappropriate. As within older age groups, any child engaging another in sexual behaviours without his or her consent is considered to be inappropriate or abusive (Cunningham & MacFarlane, 1991; Gil, 1993a; Pithers et al., 1993; Ryan & Blum, 1994).

Consent is considered lacking when a victim has not stated to the child that he/she is willing to participate in the sexual behaviour. There are numerous methods that can be employed to ensure or obtain a victim's participation in sexual behaviour without actually obtaining his/her consent. There is a lack of consent when the victim is coerced, tricked, or

bribed into engaging in sexual behaviours, and such forms of gaining compliance are considered inappropriate or abusive (Cunningham & McFarlane, 1991; Gil, 1993a). For example, one child may have coerced another into sexual contact by telling him/her, "This is what friends do", bribed another with candy in exchange for sexual contact, or tricked another into being touched by tickling the victim and "accidentally" touching him/her during the game. In each of these scenarios, the victim of the sexual act did not freely consent to being touched; however, the method used to "touch" the victim may not have been obvious to others.

In a more obvious manner, a lack of consent exists when the use of threat, force, or violence accompanies sexual behaviours. Crisci and Brown (1997) have indicated that normal sexual play involves "being silly" and "having fun"; however, any coercive or bullying behaviour used in the commission of a sexual behaviour is viewed as abusive. Unlike bribery or trickery, overt threats and the use of force or harm to engage another in sexual behaviour can be easily identified. For example, Johnson (1993c) described a scenario where one young boy was held down by multiple children in order for them to perform sexual acts on him, resulting in the victim requiring medical attention (p. 75). Children may also use more covert forms of force, threat, or violence to obtain a victim's compliance. For example, a child may threaten to harm a pet or younger sibling of the intended victim, in order to gain their compliance. Regardless of whether the child used overt or covert methods, any use of force, threat, or violence to engage another in sexual behaviours is considered inappropriate and abusive.

Sexual behaviours are viewed with concern when they involve chronological and developmental differences, size differences, and/or status differences between the children

involved in the sexual behaviours (Gil, 1993a; Pithers et al., 1993). With respect to ages between children involved in sexual behaviours, a three-year or greater age difference is generally considered an age gap that is worthy of investigation for appropriateness (Gil, 1999a). However, Gil also warns that this age criterion should not be the only determinant of whether sexual behaviour was inappropriate. Specifically, children can sexually harm another child of a similar age, and sexual behaviour between children of varying ages may appear harmful but could have been misinterpreted by an adult.

It is generally agreed that there is cause for concern when children engaging in sexual behaviours are similar in age but at differing developmental stages, such as when one child is developmentally delayed or considerably immature (Cunningham & McFarlane, 1991; Gil, 1993a). A child with a developmental delay may not be capable of consenting to, or understanding, the sexual behaviours; hence, children of the same age may be at very different stage of sexual development. A number of researchers have noted that size and status differences between children are also of concern when they are involved in sexual behaviour (Cunningham & McFarlane, 1991; Gil, 1993a; Pithers et al., 1993). Although two children may be the same age, if one child is much larger than the other, there may be an issue of intimidation or force to gain compliance. Similarly when one child is placed in charge of another, such as in the case of babysitting or as a result of birth order, sexual contact may be engaged in without consent simply because the lower status child believes that he/she cannot refuse (Gil, 1993a).

In general, when sexual contact with another does not involve consent of both parties, regardless of the means used to avoid gaining true consent, the sexual behaviour is considered inappropriate. Although the inappropriate aspects of a child's sexual behaviours

may be clearly noted, there is a need to assess each case individually in order to understand the context and intricacies of the behaviours; it is important that adults do not judge the appropriateness of the sexual behaviours without an investigation of the details (Gil, 1993a).

Differentiating children who repeat from those who do not repeat sexual behaviour

Researchers have shown that children identified as engaging in sexually inappropriate behaviours could be involved in a variety of sexual behaviours including voyeurism, exhibitionism, stalking, bestiality, molestation, and incest (Gray, Busconi, Houchens, & Pithers, 1997; McClellan et al., 1996; Wieckowski et al., 1998). Thus, children who have gained the attention of professionals are, in some cases, engaging in serious, severe, and harmful sexual acts. Much of what is known about the problematic sexual behaviours of children has been based on descriptive studies. Little attention has been paid to whether involvement in specific or various problematic sexual behaviours is related to the risk of a child's sexual behaviours continuing, regardless of adult intervention.

The ultimate goal of treatment for children identified as exhibiting problematic sexual behaviours is to prevent the continuation of the behaviour. For some children, simply being told by an adult to stop the sexual behaviours is enough to terminate the behaviours; however, for other children, problematic sexual behaviours are repeatedly engaged in, regardless of adult intervention. Incidence rates of children who repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours over time are unknown; however, a number of investigations have indicated that this is a problem worthy of attention. To date, there is no evidence to suggest why, once intervention has occurred, some children repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours while others do not.

Studies of sexually offending adolescents have indicated that many engaged in inappropriate sexual behaviours as children (Burton, 2000; Lane, 1991; Wieckowski et al., 1998), and these early behaviours included both contact (e.g. fondling, fellatio, penilevaginal penetration) and noncontact (e.g. voyeurism, exhibitionism) sexual behaviours. For example, in a sample of 30 sexually offending adolescents between 12 and 14 years of age at apprehension, 87% admitted noncontact sexual behaviours at just over 9 years of age on average, and the majority went on to commit contact sexual behaviours just under 11 years of age (Wieckowski et al., 1998). In a general sample of 471 adjudicated youth aged 12 to 22 (M = 16.9), 263 admitted sexual offences and, of those, 43% reported sexual behaviour problems as children (Burton, 2000). The results of these studies demonstrate that a number of sexually offending adolescents recalled engaging in inappropriate sexual behaviours during childhood; thus, for some children, early problematic sexual behaviours continue into adolescence. On the other hand, it is not known whether these adolescents were ever reprimanded for their problematic sexual behaviours as children or whether they continued the sexual behaviours despite adult intervention. Moreover, there is no evidence to indicate whether specific childhood factors differentiate those children who do not repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours from those who repeat their sexual behaviours over time.

A prospective study following children reprimanded for their first problematic sexual behaviour and then followed over time would elucidate differences between children who repeatedly engage in sexual behaviours regardless of adult intervention and children who do not repeat once an adult has intervened. However, given that this design would be both costly and time consuming, as well as the fact that so little research has been conducted with this population, it would be prudent to first ascertain those factors that may be useful in future

longitudinal investigations. Recently, a method to compare individuals who have and have not repeated sexual offending behaviours has been used in adult and adolescent populations. By comparing those who were reprimanded (e.g. caught) and repeated (recidivists) to those who had been reprimanded but did not repeat (nonrecidivists) sexual offending behaviours. some insight into differential factors has been found for both adult (Thornton, 2002) and adolescent (Kenny, Keogh, & Seidler, 2001; Worling, 2004) sexual offending populations. For example, Worling (2004) compared two groups of sexually offending adolescents: one group had been reprimanded for the sexual behaviours in the past and had repeated the behaviours, and the other group had no known history of being reprimanded and repeating. The two groups differed in the overall presence of risk factors; those adolescents who repeated the sexual behaviours had a higher overall Total score (an aggregate of all individual risk factors that were present) compared to those without a history of reprimands (Worling, 2004). Worling points out that this method of comparing repeaters (repeated sexual behaviours following adult reprimand) and nonrepeaters (not previously reprimanded and not repeated following reprimand) is not an investigation of those who committed their first offence and those with multiple offences. The majority of adolescents in both groups had committed multiple sexual offences against at least one victim (71% & 81%; Worling, 2004). Therefore, this method, instead, is a comparison of those with and without a history of prior reprimands for problematic sexual behaviours.

A similar design as that utilized with adolescent populations could be used with a sample of children who have been identified for problematic sexual behaviours. In such a design, all children will have been identified and reprimanded by an adult for the behaviours and all will have been brought to the attention of professionals. However, the children would be expected to differ based on whether 1) they were known to have previously been reprimanded for an earlier problematic sexual behaviour or whether 2) there was no known history of prior reprimands. A reprimand must be given by an adult to ensure that the child is aware his or her behaviour is not acceptable and must not be repeated.

Adult reprimands can include a range of sanctions such as a school suspension, loss of privileges, or simply being told by an adult that the behaviours must stop. By investigating differences between children with and without a history of reprimands, it would be possible to determine whether the groups differ on the presence of specific sexual behaviours or other risk factors. Evidence of differences between these two groups of children could indicate children who are more likely to require additional intervention to reduce their risk of repeated problematic sexual behaviours.

#### Risk Assessment Protocols

In order to differentiate children who repeat and do not repeat problematic sexual behaviours, it is necessary to determine which factors may be important to investigate in these groups. Without knowledge of the factors that differentiate children who repeat their sexual behaviours from those who do not, speculation and anecdotal evidence may lead to unnecessary treatment or the decision that treatment is not warranted. Therefore, to allow for evidence-based intervention decisions, it is important that research efforts focus on identifying the characteristics of children who disregarded the adult reprimands they received for their problematic sexual behaviours.

A number of methods have been developed in an attempt to determine which children are at risk of engaging in or continuing a variety of antisocial or inappropriate behaviours.

Risk assessment protocols have been developed to assess children at risk for a variety of behaviours of which sexual behaviour is just one (see Augimeri et al., 2000; Gilgun, 2001; Levene et al., 2000). Other risk assessment protocols have been developed in an attempt to identify risk factors specifically for children who have been identified for problematic sexual behaviours (see Rich, 2002). These risk assessment protocols follow an empirically guided format in which the inclusion of each variable has been supported by empirical findings, professional opinion, or both. Future investigations of these tools will indicate their utility and predictive ability. At present, however, as a result of limited empirical support, we rely primarily on clinical knowledge and speculation regarding risk in young populations.

The inclusion of both static and dynamic factors is important when attempting to identify factors that differentiate children who have and have not repeated problematic sexual behaviour following a reprimand. Static factors are those that are based on history and cannot be changed. In adult and adolescent samples, static factors have demonstrated utility in differentiating recidivists from nonrecidivists (Harris, Rice, Quinsey, Lalumiere, Boer, et al. 2003; Worling & Curwen, 2000). Therefore, it is possible that static factors are also important to identifying children with and without a history of being reprimanded and repeating sexual behaviours. Although static factors may be important, these factors do not account for the developmental, behavioural, emotional, and psychological changes that take place during childhood.

Dynamic factors, on the other hand, are those that can change over time. As such, the inclusion of dynamic factors could assist in guiding treatment planning. Dynamic factors may also permit some flexibility in our level of concern when information about the child changes, should that information be important to the child's potential for repeated

problematic sexual behaviours. However, to date, empirical evidence has not been provided to indicate which dynamic factors may be important in differentiating children who repeat their problematic sexual behaviours regardless of being reprimanded by an adult from those children who stop.

With no empirically validated factors to assist in understanding why some children repeat their problematic sexual behaviours while others do not, assessors must rely on clinical predictions when deciding which child requires intervention. Although clinical predictions are usually based on accumulated knowledge and experience, there is evidence to indicate that unstructured clinical prediction is only slightly better than chance (Hanson & Bussière, 1998). Therefore, an investigation of the factors that differentiate children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours following a reprimand from those without this history would assist clinicians to better determine which child likely requires clinical intervention and may assist in identifying the level of intensity required in treatment.

#### Summary

Researchers have clearly outlined common sexual behaviours at various ages and they have also found that certain sexual behaviours are uncommon during childhood. Problematic sexual behaviours include sexual contact that could be considered criminal if the child was of a "chargeable" age or sexual behaviours that are developmentally or contextually inappropriate. Some of the uncommon sexual behaviours engaged in by certain children could have serious emotional and physical consequences to both the child instigating the sexual behaviour and his/her victims. Moreover, regardless of intervention, some children will continually engage in problematic sexual behaviours. Research has

demonstrated that many sexually offending adolescents commenced their problematic sexual behaviours as children, indicating the long-term nature of sexual behaviours for some children. However, there is a lack of empirical evidence to indicate whether specific characteristics are more prominent among children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours versus those children who did not have a history of reprimands and repeated problematic sexual behaviours.

An investigation into the factors identified in the literature as related to repeated problematic sexual behaviour by children would indicate whether these hypothesized characteristics do actually differentiate children who do and do not repeat the sexual behaviour. Studies with adults and adolescents who have been caught and reprimanded but who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours have demonstrated differences between these individuals and those who did not repeat. Therefore, having knowledge of the factors that differ between children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand and those without this history could assist service providers to identify children who may benefit from additional supports and interventions.

#### **Current Study**

The goal of the current study was to determine whether specific factors could differentiate children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours from children without a history of problematic sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand. The study was carried out in three parts: determining which factors to investigate, evaluating the reliability and validity of the factors, and examining the discriminative ability of the factors.

#### Part 1: Determining potential factors for inclusion in main study

The goal of the first part of the study was to determine which factors were reported in the literature as related to repeated problematic sexual behaviours. A review of the literature occurred in 5 areas and included text specific to the following: children known to have continued their problematic sexual behaviours, children believed likely to continue their problematic sexual behaviours, treatment goals for children identified as having sexual behaviour problems, assessment tools designed to assess children at risk for general antisocial behaviours and sexual behaviours, and research specific to sexually offending adolescents who commenced their problematic sexual behaviours during childhood. The criteria for inclusion in the final list of factors was based on any mention that a specific behaviour or characteristic *could* contribute to a child repeatedly engaging in problematic sexual behaviours. This nonrigorous methodology was necessary due to the lack of empirical evidence on factors that differentiate children who repeat from those who do not repeat their problematic sexual behaviours.

The review of the literature revealed 31 potential factors (see Table 1) that were suggested as important to understanding why some children repeat problematic sexual behaviours. As can be seen in Table 1, 12 factors are static and the remaining 19 are dynamic. The dynamic factors were often selected based on the goals of treatment programs that work with these children in an attempt to assist them in stopping their problematic sexual behaviours.

#### Part II: Finalizing factors for inclusion in main study

The second part of the study was focused on establishing reliable factors for investigation in the main study. The first stage of this part of the study was to define each of the factors and outline examples in order to highlight the types of behaviours that qualify for inclusion in the factor. Although 31 factors were identified in the literature (see Part I: Determining factors for inclusion in the main study), upon defining each of the variables, it became apparent that one factor related to the child's family environment (Table 1: #28 -Residing in a negative, unstable, and sexualized family environment) was, in essence, tapping three different family issues. Therefore, this family environment factor was split into three separate factors in the final list (see Table 2, factors under 5.0): Poor family sexual boundaries, Negative home environment, and Family instability.

To ensure that the descriptors accurately defined the factor under investigation, the final list of factors and their descriptive information was distributed to 7 individuals with extensive experience assessing and treating children with sexual behaviour problems. Of the 6 who responded, two suggested slight changes or additions to the descriptors of two of the factors. One respondent also suggested including sexual contact with an animal as an additional behaviour that might aid in identifying children with problematic sexual behaviours.

The amended factors and their descriptors were pilot tested with a clinical sample to ensure face validity. Four assessors, including the researcher, had conducted sexual behaviour specific assessments with 10 children identified through a metropolitan school board. In pairs, the assessors had provided an assessment that included interviews and questionnaire completion with the identified child, the child's parent or guardian, and the

child's teacher. Also, where possible, school reports and documented accounts of the sexual behaviour and any other behaviour were also collected. The four assessors reviewed and discussed each factor as it related to a specific child recently assessed; the assessors discussed the relevance of the factor names, the factor descriptions, as well as the ease of determining the factors' applicability to each child. Following these discussions, some additional examples were included to increase ease and accuracy in coding the factors. The final list of factors, along with descriptive and coding categories, is presented in Table 2.

#### Interrater agreement

Dual ratings were provided for 10 children during pilot testing and two additional children from the main study. Although it was requested that two assessors code the factors for 20% of children in the main study, dual coding was provided for only two children due to a number of assessments being conducted in isolation and a lack of participant compliance. Following a discussion of the information and details collected as part of the assessment, the assessors were asked to independently code whether each factor was present (Yes), partially/ possibly present (PP), or not present (No) for the child (see Table 2 for coding categories). The assessors then returned the completed factors to the researcher without discussing the coding with the other assessor. The dual ratings of these 12 children were then examined to establish interrater agreement.

Overall, 7 assessors provided dual coding for 12 children. There was no identified order or hierarchy between coders; in other words, one coder was not considered to be the first or second coder. There was also no consistency between pairs of assessors; therefore, each child had a different coder, depending on who was involved in his or her assessment.

Finally, there was no consistency in the role of each pair of assessors. For some children, the pair of coders was the individual assessor and the psychometrist but for others, the coders were the individual assessor and the clinical supervisor. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) was used to investigate interrater agreement. ICC is recommended when there is no order or consistency to the pair of coders (Shrout & Fleiss, 1979). ICCs between .40 and .60 are considered fair, .61 to .80 are considered moderate, and .81 to 1.0 are substantial (Shrout, 1998). Poor interrater agreement suggests a measure that is likely not valid; however, a small sample size can impact power to detect true reliability (Shrout, 1998). Factors that attained an ICC of .61 or higher were retained for investigation in the main study (see Table 3). As can be seen in Table 3, 27 factors achieved acceptable ICCs. All of the factors that did not reach a moderate level of agreement between the coders were dynamic (i.e., current aggressive thoughts/fantasies, current power-based beliefs). This is not surprising as compared to static factors, such as age or gender, dynamic factors require a judgment by the coder regarding the presence or absence of the factor. Reasons for poor interrater agreement on these factors could include a lack of information, differing information between coders, or simply differing opinions on the presence of the factor. As indicated, there was an attempt to obtain interrater agreement for the main study; however, a number of participants noted that their assessments were conducted independently and, therefore, dual coding could not be obtained. This fact highlights the potential isolation of those working with this population.

#### Part III: Main Study

The goal of the main study was to determine whether the 27 factors that attained good reliability during preliminary investigation differentiated children who repeated their

problematic sexual behaviours from children who did not repeat their sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand. To investigate the utility of the factors in differentiating these groups of children, clinical assessors coded the presence of the factors on children they had recently assessed specifically for problematic sexual behaviours.

#### Chapter 2

#### Method

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was attained through the University of Toronto's Research Ethics Review Board. Ethical approval was granted for clinicians to provide anonymous information on children recently assessed in their clinical practices. As information was anonymous, guardian consent to release the information to the researcher was not required for the study and clinicians signed informed consent to participate (see Appendix A).

#### **Participants**

Participants were clinical assessors (clinicians) who conduct assessments of children identified for problematic sexual behaviours. All participants were employed in social service agencies or in private practice. Participants worked in Canada, the United States, and Australia, and all participated voluntarily. A total of 13 individuals from 7 agencies and 2 private practices provided assessment information on 65 children. The information was incomplete for one child and two children had turned 14 by the time they were assessed, even though their problematic sexual behaviours had occurred under age 12. Given the two-year age gap between the older children in the sample and these adolescents, the two 14 year olds were not retained in the final analyses. Therefore, the total sample of children was 62. Clinicians had between 1.5 and 20 years (M = 8.87, SD = 5.8) experience providing sexual behaviour specific assessments. The clinicians reported having assessed between 2 and 300 (M = 49.92, SD = 80.1) children and having provided treatment to between 5 and 50 (M = 49.92, SD = 80.1) children and having provided treatment to between 5 and 50 (M = 49.92, SD = 80.1) children and having provided treatment to between 5 and 50 (M = 49.92) and M = 49.92.

26.76, SD = 18.34) children with sexual behaviour problems. Twelve of the thirteen clinicians were female.

#### Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Potential participants were informed that the child for whom they were completing the data collection forms must have been referred specifically for problematic sexual behaviours and must have met one of the criteria outlined on an Inclusion/Exclusion criteria form (see Appendix B). It was required that the child be above Borderline intelligence and the child's sexual behaviours must have met one of the following criteria: a chronological (3year) age difference between the child and his/her victim; developmental age difference between the child and his/her victim with the victim being of lower intelligence; size difference with the child being of greater stature than the victim; status difference with the child being in some position of authority over victim (e.g., babysitter, older sibling); or the child's sexual behaviours incorporated elements of dominance, threats, coercion, or force against the victim to gain compliance or ensure secrecy. Children who were engaging in developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviours as outlined by Gil (1993a) were also included, regardless of whether they had an identified victim (e.g., consensual anal penetration by a 6-year old). As recommended by one of the reviewers, sexual contact with an animal was also included as problematic sexual behaviour.

#### Measures

Demographic information: Demographic data were collected to describe the children under investigation.

Child gender: The child's gender was indicated.

Child age: The child's age at the time of assessment was provided in months.

Ethnic background: Participants coded the ethnic background of the child by selecting from a number of options provided: Caucasian, African, Asian, Hispanic, or by indicating the ethnicity.

Current Residence: A list of possible current residences for the child was provided: parental home, foster, relatives, group home, or other. If the options did not accurately identify the child's residence, the participant could provide the current residence.

Family involved in assessment: The participant was asked to indicate whether the child's family or significant others were involved in the assessment.

Primary guardians: The participant was asked to indicate who raised the child for most of his/her life and options included; biological parents, biological father and step mother, biological mother and step father, foster parents, relatives, grandparent(s), or the guardians' relationship could be added.

Education: The participant was asked to indicate whether the child was receiving any special education or whether he/she had a diagnosed learning disability.

Puberty: Participants indicated whether the child had reached puberty, and the following options were provided: yes, no, or unknown.

Age of first and last sexual behaviour: The age of first known problematic sexual behaviour in months and the age of last known problematic sexual behaviour in months were requested.

Risk Factors - The factors were selected and defined by the author specifically for this study. Following investigation (see Part I: Determining factors for inclusion in main study and Part

II: Finalizing factors for use in main study) of the factors, 27 factors remained to be further investigated in the main study. The final 27 factors included 12 static factors primarily related to characteristics of the sexual behaviours and details of victimization and 15 potentially dynamic factors based on the child's recent and current functioning (i.e., currentto-past 6 months). Each of the assessment factors contained three coding options: No. Possibly/partially present, or Yes (see Table 2 for coding scheme). A similar coding scheme has been utilized in risk assessment protocols with sexually offending adolescents (Worling & Curwen, 2001) and to assess a child's risk for involvement in more general antisocial behaviours (Augimeri, Koegl, Webster, & Levene, 2001; Gilgun, 2001; Levene, Augimeri, Pepler, Walsh, Webster et al., 2001). The factors were classified into six categories: Sexual Behaviours Characteristics; Victimization; Personal Characteristics; Interpersonal Characteristics; Family Characteristics; and Intervention. The factors are briefly outlined below and the reader is referred to Table 2 for complete descriptions and examples for coding the presence or absence of each factor.

### 1.0 Sexual Behaviours Characteristics

Use of Force/Threat/Violence: During any sexual behaviour or in an attempt to keep any of the sexual behaviours a secret, the child used methods of force, threat, or violence.

Coercion/Manipulation: The child has ever used nonviolent means, such as bribes or tricks, to obtain cooperation during sexual behaviours.

Pattern of Sexual Behaviours: The child has ever engaged in a pattern of sexual behaviours. It is important to note that the child must have either had multiple victims, have engaged in multiple behaviours against one victim, or have repeatedly engaged in age

inappropriate sexual behaviours regardless of whether the other individual consented. If the child engaged in any of these behaviours on one occasion only, even if he/she engaged in two of the behaviours on one occasion only, the factor would be considered *not* present.

*Penetration*: The child has ever penetrated or attempted to penetrate another individual. Penetration can occur using any object or body part inserted into the mouth, rectum, or vagina of another.

Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours: The child has ever engaged in more than one type of sexual act.

Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies: Over the past 6 months, the child has had inappropriate sexual thoughts or fantasies. Inappropriate thoughts or fantasies are those considered to have "adult" themes or abusive content such as aggressive or manipulative themes.

Distorted Sexual Beliefs: The child does not have appropriate understanding of sexual matters. Distorted sexual beliefs could include such issues as sexual fears, anxiety related to sexual issues, and justification for sexual behaviours.

Lacks Understanding of Consequences of Sexual Behaviours: The child currently does not understand the consequences of sexual behaviours to self and/or others or the child is not concerned with the consequences of his/her sexual behaviours.

Sophisticated Sexual Behaviours: The child has ever employed sophisticated, wellplanned, or strategic methods to engage in sexual behaviours.

Denial: The child currently denies any involvement in sexual behaviours and/or any problem with sexual behaviours.

Victim Selection based on Vulnerability: The child has ever chosen a victim because of specific characteristics which made them appear vulnerable.

#### 2.0 Victimization

Victim of Sexual Abuse: The child is known to be a victim of sexual abuse. A history of sexual abuse was coded dichotomously as "yes" or "no".

Arousal during own Sexual Victimization: The child experienced sexual arousal during his or her own sexual abuse.

Trauma from own Sexual Victimization: The child is the victim of sexual abuse and currently experiences negative emotional impact from this abuse.

Arousal to memories of own Sexual Victimization: The child currently experiences sexual arousal to thoughts or discussions of his or her own sexual victimization experiences.

Multiple Sexual Offenders: More than one person has ever sexually abused the child.

Impact of Nonsexual Victimization: The child is the victim of any form of nonsexual abuse and currently experiences negative emotional impact from this abuse.

Witnessed Violence: The child has witnessed, been exposed to, or been aware of violence in the home or in the community.

## 3.0 Interpersonal Characteristics

Social Skill Deficits: Over the past 6 months, the child has experienced multiple social-skill problems or difficulties.

History of Nonsexual Aggression: Over the past 6 months, the child has been aggressive in a nonsexual manner.

### 4.0 Personal Characteristics

Impulsivity: Over the past 6 months, the child has been impulsive or demonstrated poor self-control.

Poor Self-Esteem: Over the past 6 months, the child has demonstrated low-self esteem.

## 5.0 Family Environment

Poor Family Sexual Boundaries/Sexualized Family Environment: The child has ever resided in a home where the sexual boundaries would be considered inappropriate.

Negative Home Environment: Over the past 6 months, the child's home has had a negative atmosphere, which could be demonstrated through such circumstances as unresolved abuse, stress, or tension.

Family Instability: Over the past 6 months, indicators of family instability were present in the child's home. Such things could indicate instability as a lack of parenting consistency, frequent disruptions such as a parent leaving and returning, or Child Protection involvement.

Parental/Guardian Rejection: Rejecting behaviours have been directed at the child by a parent/guardian or the child has felt rejected by a parent/guardian.

### 6.0 Intervention

Treatment/Intervention: The child has not responded to sexual behaviour specific intervention to date or will not have the opportunity to attend sexual behaviour specific treatment.

Total Score: Factors were scored by assigning a score based on the presence of the factor: a score of 0 was assigned when a factor was coded as No. a score of 1 when partially/possibly present (PP) was coded, and a score of 2 when the factor was coded as Yes. The Total Score was simply a sum of each assigned score.

Repeated/Nonrepeated group membership: Two groups were formed based on whether or not the child had ever been reprimanded by an adult and then repeated the sexual behaviours. All children were caught at least once for their sexual behaviours and all received some form of reprimand for their sexual behaviours, as indicated by their attendance for a sexual behaviour assessment with one of the study's participants. Participants were asked to indicate how the child was reprimanded for the sexual behaviour that resulted in their referral for the current assessment. Participants were also asked to indicate whether any other reprimands had occurred prior to the most recent one.

Participants were informed that reprimands must have been given by an adult and must have been specific to the sexual behaviour. Furthermore, the reprimand must have been done in such a way as to indicate to the child that his/her sexual behaviour was unacceptable and must stop. A number of options were provided to suggest possible reprimands, which included the following: school suspension, referral to agency, police charge, conviction, police warning, parental warning, school warning, child protection warning, or other adult warning with the option to identify the adult. Participants were not aware that comparison groups would be established based on the details of reprimands.

Nonrepeated Group: If the child was reprimanded for inappropriate sexual behaviours on one occasion only and the child was not known to have repeated the sexual behaviours following that reprimand, the child was categorized as "nonrepeated". This is not the same as a child who had engaged in a sexual behaviour on one occasion only; this is simply a child who, once caught, did not repeat the behaviour again and who did not have a prior history of being reprimanded. In fact, many of these children had more than one victim (M = 6.01, SD = 6.48). Information on multiple victims generally came to light once the child was caught and the behaviours were further investigated. For example, during pilot testing, multiple children had been caught by a teacher who witnessed inappropriate sexual behaviours. Upon further investigation, these children were found to have multiple victims who had never disclosed and had not been previously identified.

Repeated Group: If the child had been reprimanded for inappropriate sexual behaviours on *more* than one occasion, the child was placed in the "repeated" group. Multiple reprimands indicated the repeated nature of the sexual behaviours, regardless of being told to stop by an adult. Children in this group were known to have repeated their sexual behaviours following between 1 and 5 (M = 2.43, SD = 1.17) reprimands and they had an average of 6.41 (SD = 6.19) victims. In fact, 43% of children in this group had been reprimanded between 3 and 5 times and, regardless of the reprimands, continued to engage in the sexual behaviours.

### Procedure & Analytic Plan

Factor coding

The current study used information provided by clinicians about children they had assessed as a result of their sexual behaviours. Once an assessment was finished, the clinician completed the demographic information and coded the 27 factors. To code the factors, the participant had to choose between three possible codes: definitely present (Yes). Partially/possibly present (PP), or not present (No) (see Table 2 for coding scheme). For each factor, the participants were instructed to read the description and examples listed for each coding option and then select the coding option that was relevant to the child. If information collected through the assessment indicated that the specific factor was definitely true for the child, the Yes option was indicated. When the factor was potentially true or was true but to a lesser extent than was outlined in the descriptors under the Yes categorization. the code of *Partially/possibly present* was indicated: this coding could have occurred under circumstances where limited details of the factor were provided, i.e. other professionals had alluded to a problem, or the child/family suggested that there was a problem but did not indicate any details. Otherwise, if all information collected during the assessment indicated that the child had not experienced any of the details as outlined in the description of the factor, the factor was coded as No. When the information necessary to code the specific factor was not collected or was unknown, all coding options for that factor were left blank. Responses were based on information collected during the assessment, which could include details provided from sources external to the clinician (e.g. other agency reports, school reports, etc.). Although the author was available to respond to questions, no formal training occurred.

## Comparing groups on demographic data

To ensure that the groups were similar on a number of demographic variables, the groups (repeated and nonrepeated) were compared using  $\chi^2$  for categorical data and t tests for continuous data. Demographic information between the groups was examined to describe the population under study and to ensure that extraneous variables were not related to group membership.

## Comparing groups on factors

Cramer's V, a chi-square based measure of association for tables bigger than 2x2 (Walsh, 1990), was used to investigate the relationship between group membership (repeated and nonrepeated) and the presence of each factor (Yes, Partially/possibly, No). Where a significant association was found, Receiver-operator characteristic (ROC) curves were used to estimate overall sensitivity (percentage of true-positive cases) and specificity (percentage of false-positive cases) of that factor in identifying group membership. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) was used to investigate predictive accuracy of group membership based on the presence or absence of each factor. ROC is a measure of predictive accuracy that has the advantage of being independent of base rates (Harris et al., 2003). Therefore, even if very few children were coded as present (Yes) on a factor, the AUC would still provide predictive accuracy and estimate the true- and false-positive trade off for identifying group membership based on that factor. The AUC can range between 0.0 to 1.0; an AUC = .50 indicates 50% or chance and 1.0 indicates perfect prediction (Kraemer et al., 2003). Interpretation guidelines for the ROC curve values are as follows: an AUC between .50 and .70 has low accuracy, .70 to .90 indicates moderate accuracy, and >.90 is designated as high accuracy (Swets, 1988).

In this study, an AUC of .84 would indicate that, 84% of the time, a randomly selected child from the repeated group would have been coded higher (i.e., Yes) on the factor than a randomly selected child from the nonrepeated group. Analyse-it (2006) was used to compute and compare all AUCs. To determine whether individual factors or a combination of factors (Total Score) most accurately identified group membership, each individual factor with a significant AUC was compared to the AUC for the Total Score. When the same sample is used to conduct two separate ROCs, the AUCs are compared using the correlation between the AUCs and the standard error of the difference in areas of the AUC (Hanley & McNeil, 1983).

### Chapter 3

#### Results

Clinical ratings were provided for 9 girls and 53 boys. At the time of the assessment, the children ranged in age from 63 to 147 months (M = 121.77, SD = 18.94), with similar ages for males (121.3, SD = 18.9) and females (127.11, SD = 19.1), t = -.91 (2, 60), p > .05. There were 2 male children who had turned 12 during the course of their assessment; however, neither was known to have engaged in any problematic sexual behaviour since turning 12 and, therefore, were retained. Most children were not known to have reached puberty at the time of assessment (n = 48, 77.4%), and this information was not known for 3 (4.8%), children. There were no significant differences between the genders for pubertal status (77.4% males and 77.8% females not reaching puberty),  $\chi^2 = (2, N = 62) = .63$ , p > .05. Males and females were combined to investigate clinical coding trends.

For clarity, all factor names will be presented in italics and the reader is referred to Table 2 for description and examples of each factor and criteria for coding the presence of a factor.

### Factor Coding

The percentage of children coded in each of the 3-coding options as well as the percentage of children with missing information is presented for all factors in Table 4. Of those variables with missing data (*n*=8), 50% were dynamic. Along with not coding a factor, coding the *Possibly/partially present* option suggests some uncertainty as to the presence of the factor (Worling, 2004). On average, a coding of possibly/partially present was provided for 26.6% (*SD*=12.39) of children across the 15 dynamic variables and 20.9% (*SD*=14.52) across the 12 static variables.

As can be seen in Table 4, there was an even split between the percentage of children who were reported to be victims and not victims of sexual abuse. Many children (>50%) were reported to have definitely penetrated or attempted to penetrate at least one victim (Penetration), to have social skill difficulties (Social Skill Deficits), and to have difficulties expressing and coping with their emotions (Affective Coping Skill deficit). Approximately one-quarter or fewer children were described as having used violence towards their victim (Force/Threat), to currently have inappropriate sexual thoughts or fantasies (Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies), to deny their involvement or problem with sexual behaviours (Denial), to have a family member who denies the sexual behaviours (Family in denial), or believed unwilling or unable to attend treatment for their sexual behaviours (No response to treatment/intervention).

Five children (8%) did not receive a code on the Sexual Thoughts and Fantasies factor and 2 (3%) children were not coded on the Impact of Nonsexual Victimization factor. Of those assessors who reported that their client was a victim of sexual abuse (n = 32), most were able to code whether the child was currently experiencing trauma as a result of that abuse (Trauma from Own Sexual Abuse); however, between 6% and 12% of those children who were reported to be sexual abuse victims were not rated for three victimization factors (Arousal During Sexual Victimization, Multiple Offenders, Arousal to Memories of Own Victimization). It is important to note that, for those children who received a coding on the Arousal to Memories of Own Victimization factor, no child was coded as present (Yes) on this factor (56% coded as possibly/partially occurring). To retain as many factors as possible for exploration, only the Arousal to Memories of Own Sexual Victimization was excluded from

further analyses due to the high percentage of missing data. Therefore, 26 factors remained for further investigation.

Differentiating repeated from nonrepeated children

Comparing groups on demographic data

To describe the groups under investigation, and to make certain that the groups were similar on demographic factors, they were compared on a number of demographic variables that were not tapped through any of the 26 factors (see Table 5 & 6). As the purpose of the study was to identify whether general factors discriminated the two groups, any piece of information that could be used to code a factor was not explored separately. Recall that each factor contained a number of possible behaviours or issues that could account for the factor being present. For example, the gender of the child's victims could be used to code the Multiple Sexual Behaviours factor; therefore, the main effects for victim gender as an independent variable were not explored. As can be seen in Table 5, the groups were similar with respect to race, current residential location, whether their family was involved in the assessment, who the child was primarily reared by, and education level. In addition, the reprimand that the child received for the most recent sexual behaviour was also similar between the groups, with most being warned by parents, child protection, or referral to an agency.

Table 6 presents the group comparisons of continuous demographic data. As can be seen, the only difference between the groups was related to age of first problematic sexual behaviour. Further investigation revealed that children in the repeated group started their problematic sexual behaviours younger than the nonrepeated group (72.4 vs. 101.25 months), t(2,53) = 3.59, p < .001. The repeated group had also engaged in problematic sexual behaviours over a longer period of time (M = 45.0 months, SD = 26.13) compared to those in the nonrepeated group (M = 23.89 months, SD = 23.80), t(2, 53) = 3.13, p < .01.

### Initial group comparison on factors

The relationship between group membership and presence of a factor is presented in Table 7. As can be seen, there were associations between group membership and the presence of 8 factors (Force/Threat; Pattern of Sexual Behaviours, Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours; Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies; Victim of Sexual Abuse; Impact of Nonsexual Abuse; History of Nonsexual Aggression; Poor Family Sexual Boundaries). Two factors had marginal relationships with group membership (Impulsivity, p = .052 and Social Skill Deficits, p = .08). Given the small sample size and the number of analyses conducted, only those factors that resulted in statistically significant group associations (p < .05) were retained. Therefore, 8 factors were retained for subsequent analyses.

### Exploring potentially confounding variables

As there were only 9 females in the sample, the females were investigated separately from males to explore the coding for females in the repeated and nonrepeated groups. Within the females only, a significant relationship between the Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours factor and group membership was found. All those females in the repeated group had engaged in Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours (n = 7, 100%) compared to only one female (50%) from the nonrepeated group, V = (2, N = 9) = .66, p = .047. As no other unique associations between group membership and the presence of factors were demonstrated for females when compared to the full sample, females were retained as part of the sample.

As noted, the repeated group had engaged in problematic sexual behaviours over a longer period of time. To ensure that the presence of factors was related to group membership and not simply the duration of involvement in problematic sexual behaviours, ANCOVAs were conducted with duration of sexual behaviours as the covariate. To derive the duration of the problematic sexual behaviours, the age that the child started their behaviours (in months) was subtracted from their age at assessment in months. Given that the coding scheme (No, PP., Yes) was not continuous, treating them as dependent variables with a normal distribution is problematic, however, as there is no method to analyze covariates in categorical data, this method was used for exploratory purposes only. To treat the categorical coding scheme as continuous, a score was assigned a score based on the presence or absence of the factor (No = 0, PP = 1, Yes = 2) with the presence of the factor being scored higher. The assigned score was used as the dependent variable. As noted, duration of problematic sexual behaviours was the covariate and group membership (repeated/ nonrepeated) was the independent variable. Significant group differences were found for 7 of the factors with the repeated group having higher mean scores. The eighth factor, Impact of Nonsexual Victimization approached significance (F = 2.94, p = .09). Therefore, it is likely that group differences on the factors were not simply a function of the length of time the children had been engaging in the problematic sexual behaviours.

# Exploring the coding scheme

An investigation into the coding scheme was conducted based on the presence of the 8 risk factors. To ensure that the 3-point coding scheme was necessary, a 2-point coding scheme (i.e. Present or Not present) was examined. The Possibly/partially present (PP)

response was recoded: first into the Yes category and then into the No category. Recoding resulted in dichotomized factors with the first method indicating that the factor was either definitely present or not (recoding PP into the No category) and the second resulted in some indication that the variable was present or was definitely not a problem (recoding PP into the Yes category). Regardless of the coding scheme, the groups differed on most factors. However, two factors did not differ and they were the Sexual Thoughts and Fantasies when recoded from PP to Yes and the Poor Family Sexual Boundaries factor when recoded from PP to No (see Table 8). Therefore, regardless of the recoding method, significant group differences were still present on most factors and, as the coding of PP was necessary for two factors, the 3-point coding scheme was retained.

# Accuracy of factors in identifying group membership

As noted, five children (8%) did not receive a rating on the Sexual Thoughts and Fantasies variable and two (3%) children were not coded on the Impact of Nonsexual Victimization factor. A code of No (not present) was substituted for missing variables (n=7) children in total) for all 8 factors. The AUC for each of the 8 factors is presented in Table 9. To investigate the accuracy of the 8 factors in identifying group memberships, ROCs were calculated. As can be seen, all AUCs ranged between .60 and .75 with a Pattern of Sexual Behaviours having the highest predictive accuracy (.75) of the factors.

The next step was to determine whether a combination of the eight factors had better predictive accuracy than any one factor. A Total Score (see Analytic plan) was computed and examined. Item-total correlations indicated that all factors contributed significantly to the Total Score  $(p \le .01)$  and all were above r = .61, except Force, Threat, or Violence,

Victim of Sexual Abuse, and Poor Family Sexual Boundaries (see Table 9). Internal consistency for the 8 factors was  $\alpha = .70$  (n = 55). The Total Score AUC was .86 (95% CI = .77 - .95,  $p \le .0001$ ) suggesting moderate accuracy in predicting group membership. Therefore, based on the Total Score from the 8 factors, 86% of the time, a randomly selected child from the repeated group would have a higher Total Score than a randomly selected child from the nonrepeated group.

The differential predictive accuracy between the Total Score and the 8 individual assessment factors was investigated by comparing the predictive accuracy between AUCs (see Table 9). The Total Score had significantly better predictive accuracy over 7 of the 8 individual factors (all  $z_A$ 's = .17 to .26, all p's < .05) except Pattern of Sexual Behaviours (z  $_{\Lambda}$  = .11, p > .05) (see Table 9). Given that the *Pattern of Sexual Behaviours* factor had similar predictive accuracy to the eight-factor Total Score, this factor was removed and the AUC for a 7-factor Total Score was examined. The AUC for the seven factors, not including the Pattern of Sexual Behaviours factor, was .86 (95% CI = .76 - .95, p < .0001). Therefore, there was no difference in predictive accuracy between the Total Score whether or not it included the Pattern of Sexual Behaviours.

To investigate the impact of considering a factor to be not present when the data for that factor were missing, the data were reanalyzed for only those children with complete data (n = 55). Recall that a score of 0 representing a *Not present* code was substituted for seven children. The Total Score for those with no missing data resulted in the same AUC (.86; 95% CI = .76 - 95, p < .001); however, the Total Score for the complete data sample showed superior predictive accuracy over only half (4/8) of the final assessment factors (see Table 9)

(recall that with the substitution of 0 for missing data, the Total Score was superior over 7 of 8 factors).

The purpose of the study was to investigate the factors identified through a literature review as noted to be important in understanding why some children repeat their sexual behaviours. Sexual contact with an animal was not originally identified through the literature; however, this behaviour was subsequently hypothesized by one of the reviewers as possibly important. Therefore, sexual contact with an animal was not included as a factor, but was investigated as a behaviour that could be unique to children who repeat their sexual behaviours and could account for a child being identified with a sexual behaviour problem. No child had only ever engaged in sexual contact with an animal and for 5 (8.1%) children, this behaviour was one of those that contributed to their identification. All 5 children who had sexual contact with an animal were in the repeated group and there was a significant relationship between group membership and sexual contact with an animal,  $\chi^2 = (1, N = 62) =$ 5.43, p < .05.

## Chapter 4

#### **Discussion**

The current study had two goals, the first objective was to identify factors that were likely important to understanding children who repeated problematic sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand. The second goal was to determine whether specific factors were present, to a greater extent, for children who had a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviour following an adult reprimand than for those who had not. A review of the literature revealed 33 factors thought to increase a child's risk for repeating their problematic sexual behaviours. The 33 factors encompassed characteristics of the child's sexual behaviours, victimization experiences, personal and interpersonal characteristics, family issues, and intervention. The results indicated that 8 factors were present to a greater extent for children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand compared to those without this known history. In addition, a combination of the eight factors was shown to be superior over most individual factors in accurately identifying children who were known to have repeated their problematic sexual behaviours following adult reprimand from those without this history.

The 33 factors initially included in the study included 12 static and 21 dynamic factors. Static factors were primarily related to characteristics of the child's sexual behaviours and included such details as having ever used force or violence during a sexual behaviour or ever penetrating a victim. Static factors also included victimization experiences, a history of nonsexual aggression, and whether the child had ever resided in a home where family members had poor sexual boundaries. Relying only on static factors to understand why some children repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours may

assist with identifying those at risk; however, having knowledge of only static factors does not inform intervention programs for these children.

In the literature reviewed, many dynamic factors were also identified as potential risk factors for a child to repeat his/her problematic sexual behaviours. It was not surprising that a greater number of dynamic factors were identified, given the importance of considering sexual behaviours within a developmental psychopathology framework (Friedrich, 1997). Therefore, it is important to account for the changes in thoughts, feelings, and behaviours at such young ages. In addition, the inclusion of literature on treatment programs for sexually inappropriate children likely contributed to the overrepresentation of dynamic factors. Treatment providers have speculated that the child's current personal and interpersonal characteristics, current living arrangements, and current thoughts and feelings must be altered to reduce the risk that the behaviours will continue. However, in this study, in which children were differentiated based on a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours following reprimand or not, the majority of factors identified as important were static. Although these factors will not guide the issues to address in treatment, they do allow for more confidence in identifying those children who may require intervention to stop their problematic sexual behaviours.

This study required clinicians who had recently assessed a child to indicate the presence or absence of 27 factors. The coding scheme included definitions and examples of behaviours or characteristics that would meet the criteria for the factor to be present or not present for the child. Based on demographic data, provided by the clinician, the children were divided into two groups: those who had repeated their problematic sexual behaviours after being reprimanded by an adult and those children who did not have a history of prior

reprimands for sexual behaviours. As noted previously, this study was not an investigation comparing children who engaged in problematic sexual behaviours for the first time to those with a history of sexual behaviours; both groups had, on average, more than two years of involvement in problematic sexual behaviours. The difference between the groups was that some children did not have a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours following a reprimand and others did. In fact, the group of children who repeated the behaviours had, in most cases, been reprimanded on multiple occasions and, regardless of these warnings, their problematic sexual behaviours did not stop.

The factors that were present to a greater degree in children who repeated sexual behaviour included the following: the use of force, threat, or violence during sexual behaviours; having demonstrated a pattern of sexual behaviours; having engaged in multiple types of sexual behaviours; currently having age-inappropriate sexual thoughts or fantasies; being a victim of sexual abuse; currently experiencing negative impact from a nonsexual victimization experience; having a history of nonsexual aggression; and having ever resided in a family with poor sexual boundaries. Interestingly, regardless of the fact that a greater number of dynamic risk factors were identified in the literature, only two: current Impact of Nonsexual Abuse and Inappropriate Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies were present to a greater degree in children who repeated their sexual behaviours. As dynamic factors have the potential to change, further investigation should reveal whether decreases over time in these or other dynamic factors have an impact on the continuation of problematic sexual behaviours.

As noted, 8 factors were shown to be related to, and to accurately classify, group membership (repeated and nonrepeated). To determine whether greater accuracy in

identifying group membership could be gained by taking into account the presence of multiple factors, a Total Score based on the presence of the eight individual factors was calculated. The results indicated that the combination of factors was better at predicting group membership compared to all but one of the eight factors when considered independently. It is important to note that there was no difference in predictive accuracy between the 8-factor Total Score and the single factor assessing whether the child had repeatedly engaged in sexual behaviours against one victim, had engaged in sexual behaviours against multiple victims, or had repeatedly engaged in age-inappropriate sexual behaviours as measured by the *Pattern of Sexual Behaviours* factor. This finding suggests that, regardless of other behaviours, if the child has demonstrated some pattern in his or her problematic sexual behaviours, he or she is more likely to be a child who has repeated the sexual behaviours regardless of being told to stop by an adult. Therefore, the presence of a Pattern of Sexual Behaviour factor on its own, or the presence of multiple individual factors, could indicate a child who may require more than an adult reprimand to stop the problematic sexual behaviours.

The manner in which a number of the factors were coded may indicate the need for more consistency in assessments of children with sexual behaviour problems. Most of the missing data was on dynamic factors. In order to establish whether a dynamic factor is present or not for a child, the assessor must have obtained the necessary information to make a determination. Similarly, indicating that a factor was either somewhat or possibly present suggests some uncertainty as to the presence of the factor (Worling, 2004). In situations where an assessment did not produce adequate or accurate information, determining the presence of all factors would be difficult. In some cases, the study was introduced to

clinicians only after they had completed their assessment; therefore, it is possible that some of the factors being investigated were not actually formally assessed. For example, no child with a known sexual abuse history was reported to currently experience physical pleasure from memories of his/her abuse and, in fact, this information was often missing. Indeed, there may have been children who were experiencing these feelings but the assessor did not gather the information necessary to code this factor. Therefore, continued investigation of all the factors identified for this study should be undertaken with participants already familiar with them. It is also possible, however, that accurately evaluating personal experiences is an impossible task (Foster & Cone, 1995). Nevertheless, having the factors as a guideline for future assessments may assist to standardize assessments of children with sexual behaviour problems.

The results demonstrated eight factors that differentiated children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours from those who did not repeat following an adult reprimand. Given that this was the first study of its kind, it would be premature to disregard any of the original 33 factors initially proposed. Utilizing all the factors to guide future assessments would assist to establish some consistency in the information collected across various assessors. Ultimately, those factors most important in evaluating the potential for repeated problematic sexual behaviour or the need for intervention to assist the child to stop his/her behaviours will be established. Until further empirical evidence of risk factors is presented. no one factor should be considered more or less important. Furthermore, continued investigation into the function of a child's current thoughts and feelings with repeated sexual behaviours must be undertaken; without evidence as to the role of the child's subjective

experiences, the contribution of current thoughts and feelings to repeated problematic sexual behaviours will remain purely speculative.

The factors investigated in this study were a representation of a number of possible issues. For example, the Pattern of Sexual Behaviours would be coded as present if the child had engaged in a number of different sexual behaviours against one person, if the child had multiple victims, of if the child had engaged in developmentally inappropriate sexual behaviours on multiple occasions. Similarly, the Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours factor would have been present for a child who had victims of both genders or engaged in sexual behaviours with victims in multiple age groups. Therefore, given the possible overlap between the factors as well as the behaviours that suggest the presence of a factor, future investigations with larger samples should tease apart the criteria for each factor. It is possible that the descriptive criterion used to code the factor actually differs between children who have and have not repeated problematic sexual behaviours. It is also necessary to consider that specific behaviours encompassing a factor may be related to more than one factor; for example, there may be some overlap in Family Instability and Negative Home Environment. Further research should focus on determining the unique characteristics of each factor to reduce the possibility of over- or under-estimating clinical concern.

This study was an exploration of those factors *specifically* outlined in the literature as being important to understanding children who repeated their problematic sexual behaviours following an adult reprimand; however, exploration revealed a number of other factors not outlined in the literature but potentially important and worthy of further investigation. One such behaviour was a reported history of sexual contact with an animal. Those children who engaged in this behaviour were all in the repeated group and a significant relationship

between the behaviour and group membership was demonstrated. Sexual contact with an animal is uncommon in community samples of children (Friedrich et al., 1991) and, therefore, is viewed with concern. In samples of children with sexual behaviours problems, sexual contact with an animal appears to be more prevalent in male children (Gardner, 1997); however, both males (n = 3) and females (n = 2) in this study engaged in the behaviour. Sexually touching an animal might be a behaviour that assists to identify a child who may well continue his/her problematic sexual behaviours; however, further investigation is necessary to elucidate the relationship between this atypical behaviour and repeated problematic sexual behaviour.

Both groups had been involved in the problematic sexual behaviours over multiple years. However, children in the repeated group started engaging in problematic sexual behaviours at a younger age than the children in the nonrepeated group and, therefore, engaged in these behaviours longer. Although there was an attempt to ensure that the duration of the child's involvement in problematic sexual behaviours did not account for the differences in the presence of factors, one cannot be certain that this was not an influence. The length of time of involvement in problematic sexual behaviours could suggest entrenched behaviours that may be more difficult to break or it could suggest other early difficulties (i.e. Poor Family Sexual Boundaries) that may have initiated and then maintained the behaviours. Future investigations should consider the child's age of initial problematic sexual behaviours, the duration of the sexual behaviours, and influences on early sexual behaviours to fully understand how these are related to repeated problematic sexual behaviours.

The small number of females precluded gender specific exploration. Although males and females were justly combined, it is possible that specific issues not investigated in this study would warrant a separation of these children. Similar numbers of males and females have been reported in sexual behaviour samples (Friedrich et al., 2003). It appears, therefore, that females were underrepresented in this study, which highlights the need for further exploration of gender specific discriminative factors. In addition, the majority of the sample was living at home; however, high numbers of children in out-of-home placements have a history of sexually inappropriate behaviours (Ryan, 2000) and further investigations should account for residential placement.

### Limitations

This study was an important step towards understanding the characteristics of children who repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours despite being reprimanded. However, there are a number of limitations that must be considered when interpreting the results. The major limitation of this study was the method used to group children with (repeated) and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours (nonrepeated). This grouping was established to suggest that children who, in the past, had a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours might be similar to those children who are more likely to continue problematic sexual behaviours in the future. Similarly, those grouped as not having a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours, as determined by no known problematic sexual behaviours following reprimands, were intended to represent those children who, over time, are less likely to repeat their problematic sexual behaviours.

As the groups were devised based on retrospective information, it is impossible to know whether they accurately represent future behaviour. The major limitation with this grouping method was with the nonrepeated group. Over time, some children in the nonrepeated group may actually repeat their problematic sexual behaviours. It is also possible that children in the nonrepeated group actually belonged in the repeated group, but the information about past reprimands was not known. To accurately classify individuals based on their sexual behaviours, we rely on our knowledge of their involvement, which is often based on victim reports. It is well known that many victims do not disclose abuse and that many sexual offences are never detected; these same detection problems exist for children who engage in harmful and inappropriate sexual behaviour. The extent of the problematic sexual behaviours engaged in by children will likely remain underreported; therefore, details of the past and future behaviours of these children, as with those who sexually offend, may be somewhat inaccurate. Regardless of the methodology used, identification issues are inherent when the behaviours under investigation are of such a sensitive nature. Moreover, the cross-sectional design was used to capture information about these children at one point in time in an attempt to identify which factors may be important for a more costly longitudinal study. As with any cross-sectional study, the future is always uncertain, but we draw our conclusions based on what is known at the time of the study.

Another major design limitation of this study is one inherent in test development; a single sample should not be used to derive factors and assess discriminant validity. Given that the final factors were identified and then validated on the same sample, relying on the specific issues outlined in this study to assign a level of concern to a specific child would be unethical. Therefore, the factors outlined in the study should be considered a starting point

for future research into the issues related to children who repeatedly engage in problematic sexual behaviours.

Other limitations included the small sample size, especially given the number of analyses conducted. The sample size did not allow for dividing the children based on age group, which has been recommended. Friedrich (1997) has noted that the meaning the child attaches to the sexual behaviours, the recency of their own traumatic experiences, and the duration of the problematic sexual behaviours may all be linked to the age of the child; therefore, age-related experiences may be essential to understanding repeated problematic sexual behaviours. As noted, the repeated group did start their problematic sexual behaviours at a younger age and over a longer period of time compared to the nonrepeated group. The recency of traumatic experiences was not investigated but may be vital to understanding the contribution of age and trauma to repeated problematic sexual behaviours. Therefore, further investigation into the age-related problematic sexual behaviours and the impact of age as an independent factor on repeated sexual behaviours is vital to understanding this population. Future research should investigate the validity of these factors with respect to the age when the problematic sexual behaviours commenced, the duration of the sexual behaviours, and any age differences in the presence of the factors.

In the early investigation of the 33 factors, two assessors coded the factors on the same child. These assessors were each involved in the children's assessment; however, a number of dynamic factors attained poor agreement. Although poor interrater agreement precluded the factors from further analyses, it is recommended that continued investigation into all the factors and the interpretation of them by clinicians be conducted. Accurate assessments of children with sexual behaviour issues are vital to drawing conclusions and to recommending or not recommending additional treatment. The fact that a number of assessors who were similarly involved with a child did not agree on the presence of a number of dynamic factors raises questions regarding the accuracy of assessments conducted by individuals.

This study is the first known empirical investigation into factors outlined in the literature as potentially important to a child's risk for ongoing problematic sexual behaviours. Until further investigation into these or other potential risk related factors is done, it is necessary to stress the need for caution in interpreting these results, and to advise that utilizing these results in a clinical setting must be done with prudence. To employ these factors in establishing "risk ratings" for children known to have engaged in problematic sexual behaviours would be erroneous. Until further empirical evidence is provided on these factors, clinicians should balance the limitations of current knowledge of risk factors with Ryan's (2000) caution of the "lure of a quick answer". As noted, specific behaviours or thoughts and feelings should not be viewed in isolation when assessing a child's potential for continued problematic sexual behaviours and, similarly, factors outlined in this study should be considered potentially important until they are validated with a similar population. Even with validation, the goal in conducting this type of assessment should be accurate identification of children who may benefit from additional intervention and not for the purpose of making risk statements alone, or to segregate children demonstrating sexual behaviour problems.

### References

- Analyse-it Statistical Software. (2006). Analyse-it Clinical Add-in for Microsoft Excel.

  Retrived from: http://www.analyse-it.com/. Analyse-it Software Ltd, Leeds, United Kingdom.
- Araji, S. K. (1997). Identifying, labeling, and explaining children's sexually aggressive behaviours. In S. K. Araji (Ed.) Sexually aggressive children: Coming to understand them (pp 2-45). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Augimeri, L. K., Koegl, C. J., Webster, C. D., & Levene, K. S. (2001). Early assessment risk list for boys. EARL-20B (Version 2). Toronto, Ontario: Earlscourt Child and Family Centre.
- Berliner, L., Manaois, O., & Monastersky, C. (1986). *Child sexual behaviour disturbance:*An assessment and treatment model. Harborview Medical Centre: Seattle, WA.
- Bonner, B. L., Walker, C. E., & Berliner, L. (1998). *Children with sexual behaviour problems: Assessment and treatment*. National Centre on Child Abuse and Neglect. US Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from: http://www.calib.com/nccanch/pubs/otherpubs/childassessment/index.cfm
- Bonner, B. L., Walker, C. E., & Berliner, L. (1999a). Treatment manual for dynamic for group play therapy for children with sexual behaviour problems and their parents/caregivers. National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect. US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Bonner, B. L., Walker, C. E., & Berliner, L. (1999b). Treatment manual for Cognitive-Behavioural Group Treatment for parent/caregivers of children with sexual behaviour problems. National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect. US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Brayton, G. (2000). Adolescent sexual offenders. In J. A. Winterdyk (Ed.). *Issues and Perspectives on Young Offenders in Canada*. (pp. 265-284). Toronto, ON: Thomson Nelson..
- Burton, D. L. (2000). Were adolescent sexual offenders children with sexual behaviour problems? Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 12(1), 37-48.
- Burton, D. L., Nesmith, A. A., & Badten, L. (1997). Clinician's views on sexually aggressive children and their families: A theoretical exploration. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 21(2), 157-170.
- Calder, M. C., Hanks, H., Epps, K. J., Print, B., Morrison, T., & Henniker, J. (2001)

  Juveniles and children who sexually abuse: Frameworks for assessments (2nd ed.).

  Lyme Regis, Dorset: Russell House Publishing.

- Crisci, G., & Brown, A. (1995). In S. K. Araji (Ed.) Sexually aggressive children: Coming to understand them (p. 9). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cunningham, C & MacFarlane, L. (1991). When children molest children. Group treatment strategies for young sexual offenders. Orwell, VT: Safer Society Press.
- Cunningham, C. & MacFarlane, L. (1996). When children abuse. Brandon, VT: Safer Society Press.
- Epps, K. (2001). Pointers for carers. In M. C. Calder, H. Hanks, K. J. Epps, B. Print, T. Morrison, & J. Henniker (2001) Juveniles and children who sexually abuse: Frameworks for assessment (2nd ed.). (pp. 238-246). Lyme Regis, Dorset: Russell House Publishing.
- Foster, S. L., & Cone, J. D. (1995). Validity issues in clinical assessment. *Psychological* Assessment, 7(3), 248-260.
- Friedrich, W. N. (1997). Forward. In S. K. Araji (Ed.) Sexually aggressive children: Coming to understand them (pp xvi). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Friedrich, W. N., Davies, H., Feher, E., & Wright, J. (2003). Sexual behaviour problems in preteen children. Developmental, ecological, and behavioural correlates. New York Academy of Sciences, 989, 95-104.
- Friedrich, W. N., Fisher, J., Brougton, D., Houston, M., & Shafran, C. R. (1998). Normative sexual behaviour in children: A contemporary sample. Pediatrics, 101(4). Retrieved from: http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/content/full/101/4/e9
- Friderich, W. N., Grambsch, P., Broughton, D., Kuiper, J., & Beilke, R. L. (1991). Normative sexual behaviour in children. *Pediatrics*, 88 (3), 456-464.
- Friedrich, W. N., Grambsch, P., Damon, L., Hewitt, S. K., Koverola, C., Lang, R. A., Wolfe, V., & Broughton, D. (1992). Child Sexual Behaviour Inventory: Normative and clinical comparisons. Psychological Assessment, 4(3), 303-311.
- Friedrich, W. N., & Trane, S. T. (2002). Sexual behaviour in children across multiple settings. Child Abuse and Neglect, 26, 243-245.
- Gardner, K. (1997). Social and psychological characteristics. In S. K. Araji (Ed.) Sexually aggressive children: Coming to understand them (pp. 79-82). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Gil, E. (1993a). Age-appropriate sex play versus problematic sexual behaviours. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp. 21-40). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.

- Gil, E. (1993b). Individual therapy. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp.179-210). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Gil, E. (1993c). Out of home care. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp.179-210). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Gilgun, J. F. (2001). CASPARS instruments. In M. C. Calder, H. Hanks, K. J. Epps, B. Print, T. Morrison, & J. Henniker (Eds). Juveniles and children who sexually abuse: Frameworks for assessments (2nd ed.). (pp. 407-415). Lyme Regis, Dorset: Russell House Publishing.
- Gilgun, J.F., Keskinen, S., Jones, D. J., & Rice, K. (1999). Clinical application of the CASPARS Instruments: Boys who act out sexually. Family in Society, 80(6), 629-641.
- Gray, A., Busconi, A., Houchens, P., & Pithers, W.D. (1997). Children with sexual behaviour problems and their caregivers: demographics, functioning, and clinical Patterns. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 9, 267-290.
- Hall, D. K., Mathews, F., & Pearce, J. (1998). Factors associated with sexual behaviour problems in young sexually abused children. Child Abuse and Neglect, 22, 1045-1063.
- Hanley, J. A., & McNeil, B. J. (1983). A method of comparing the areas under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curves derived from the same cases. Radiology, 148(3), 839-843.
- Hanson, R. K., & Bussière, M. T. (1998). Predicting relapse: A meta-analysis of sexual offender recidivism studies. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 66, 348-362.
- Harris, G., Rice, M. E., Quinsey, V. L., Lalumiere, M. L., Boer, D., & Lang, C. (2003). A multisite comparison of actuarial risk instruments for sex offenders. Psychological Assessment, 15(3), 413-425.
- Haugard, J. & Tilly, C. (1988). Characteristics predicting children's responses to sexual encounters with others. Child Abuse and Neglect, 12, 209-218.
- Horton, C. B. (2000) The treatment of children with sexually problematic and aggressive behaviour. Children and Family Research Centre. Department of Psychology, Illinois State University.
- Johnson, T. C. (1989). Female child perpetrators: Children who molest other children. Child Abuse & Neglect, 13, 571-585.

- Johnson, T. C. (1993a). Childhood sexuality. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp.1-20). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. (1993b). Clinical evaluation. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp. 137-178). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. (1993c). Preliminary findings. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp. 67-90). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. (1993d). Group therapy. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp. 211-273). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. (1993e). Childhood sexuality. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp. 1-20). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. & Feldmeth, J. R. (1993). Sexual Behaviours: A Continuum. In E. Gil & T.C. Johnson (Eds.), Sexualized children: Assessment and treatment of sexualized children and children who molest (pp.1-20). Rockville, MD: Launch Press.
- Johnson, T. C. (1998). Children who molest. In W. Marshall (Ed.). Sourcebook of Treatment Program for Sexual Offenders, Plenum Press, New York, 337-351.
- Kenny, D. T., Keogh, T., & Seidler, K. (2001). Predictors of recidivism in Australian juvenile sex offenders: Implications for treatment. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 13(2), 131-148.
- Kraemer, H. C. Morgan, G. A., Leech, N. L., Gliner, J. A., Vaske, J. J. & Harmon, R. J. (2003). Measures of clinical significance. American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 42(12), 1524-1529.
- Lab, S. P., Shields, G., & Schondel, C. (1993). Research note: An evaluation of juvenile sexual offender treatment. Crime & Delinquency, 39, 543-553.
- Lane, S. L. (1991). Special offender populations. In G. D. Ryan and S. L. Lane (Eds.). Juvenile Sexual Offending: Causes, Consequences, and Correction (pp. 299-332). Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Levene, K. S., Augimeri, L. K., Pepler, D. J., Walsh, M. M., Webster, C. D., & Koegl, C. J. (2001). Early assessment risk list for girls. EARL-21G (Version 1 - Consultation edition). Toronto, Ontario: Earlscourt Child and Family Centre.

- Pithers, W. D., Gray, A., Busconi, A., & Houchens, P. (1998). Five empirically derived subtypes of children with sexual behavior problems: Characteristics potentially related to juvenile delinquency and adult criminality. The Irish Journal of Psychology, 19, 49-67.
- Pithers, W. D., Gray, A., Cunningham, C., & Lane, S. (1993). From trauma to understanding. Brandon, VT: Safer Society Press.
- Rasmussen, L. A. (1999). Factors related to recidivism among juvenile sexual offenders. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 11, 69-85.
- Rasmussen, L. A., Burton, J. E., & Christopherson, B. J. (1992). Precursors to offending and the trauma outcome process in sexually reactive children. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 1(1), 33-48.
- Ryan, G. & Blum, J. (1994). Childhood sexuality: A guide form parents. Denver, CO: Kempe Children's Center, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center.
- Ray, J. & English, D. J. (1995). Comparison of female and male children with sexual behaviour problems. Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 24(4), 439-451.
- Rich, P. (2002). LA-SAAT: Latency aged-sexual adjustment and assessment tool, assessment of sexual behavior and adjustment in children. Barre, MA, Stetson School, Inc.
- Ryan, G. (2000). Childhood sexuality: A decade of study. Part II Dissemination and future directions. Child Abuse & Neglect, 24(1), 49-61.
- Shrout, P. E. (1998). Measurement reliability and agreement in psychiatry. Statistical Methods in Medical Research, 7, 301-317.
- Shrout, P.E. & Fleiss, J.L. (1979) Intraclass correlations: Uses in assessing rater reliability. Psychological Bulletin, 2, 420-428.
- Staiger, P. (2005). Children who engage in problem sexual behaviours: Context, characteristics and treatment. A review of the literature. Ringwood, Vic. Australian Childhood Foundation.
- Swets, J. (1988). Measuring the accuracy of diagnostic systems. Science, 240, 1285–1293.
- Thornton, D. (2002). Constructing and testing a framework for dynamic risk assessment. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 14(2), 139-153.
- UNICEF (2002). Minimum age of criminal responsibility. Retrieved from: http://www.unicef-icdc.org/

- Walsh, A. (1990). Statistics for the Social Sciences: Harper & Row: New York, NY
- Webster's New World Dictionary (1997). Macmillan Publishing: New York, NY.
- Wieckowski, E., Hartsoe, P., Mayer, A., & Shortz, J. (1998). Deviant sexual behavior in children and young adolescents: Frequency and patterns. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 10, 1998.
- Worling, J. R. (2004). The Estimate of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offence Recidivism (ERASOR): Preliminary psychometric data. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 16(3), 235-54.
- Worling, J. R. & Curwen, T. (2000). Adolescent sexual offender recidivism: Success of specialized treatment and implications for risk-prediction. Child Abuse and Neglect, 24(7), 965-982.
- Worling, J. R. & Curwen, T. (2001). Estimate of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offence Recidivism (ERASOR: Version 2.0). In M. C. Calder, H. Hanks, K. J. Epps, B. Print, T. Morrison, & J. Henniker (Eds.). Juveniles and children who sexually abuse: Frameworks for assessment (2nd ed.). (pp. 372-397). Lyme Regis, Dorset: Russell House Publishing.

Table 1: Potential Risk factors identified on the basis of literature review.

| Potential Risk Factors  | Literature  |
|---|---|
| Static Factors  | T   |
| Use of physical force during sexual behaviour or<br>threatened physical force                       | Gil, 1993b; Gray, Busconi, Houchens, & Pithers, 1997; Johnson, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002   |
| Use of coercion or manipulation to gain victim compliance   | Gilgun, 2001; Johnson, 1993; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002  |
| 3) A history of sexual behaviours   | Burton, Nesmith, & Badten, 1997; Gil, 1993b; Johnson & Feldmeth, 1993; Johnson, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995; Weikowski, Hartsoe, Mayer, & Shortz, 1998   |
| 4) Engaging in multiple types of sexual behaviours  | Burton, 2000; Gardner, 1997; Gray, Busconi, Houchens, & Pithers, 1997   |
| 5) Engaged in penetration   | Araji, 1997; Burton, 2000; Johnson & Feldmeth, 1993   |
| 6) Engaged in sophisticated or "predatory" sexual behaviours  | Gil, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995   |
| 7) Selecting victim based on specific characteristics (i.e. vulnerability)                          | Gil, 1993c; Johnson & Feldmeth, 1993; Johnson, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995   |
| 8) A victim of sexual abuse   | Augimeri et al., 2000; Levene et al., 2000; Ray & English, 1995; Rich 2002  |
| Experienced physical arousal during own sexual victimization  | Johnson, 1993e  |
| 10) Multiple sexual offenders against the child   | Burton, Nesmith, & Badten, 1997   |
| 11) Child has witnessed violence within the family or in the neighbourhood                          | Augimeri et al., 2000; Gilgun, 1996; Johnson, 1993b; Levene et al., 2000; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002; Wiekowski et al., 1998   |
| 12) Child is impulsive  | Augimeri et al., 2000; Bonner, Walker, & Berliner, 1999a; Calder et al., 2001; Horton, 2000; Lane, 1991; Levene et al., 2000; Rasmussen, Burton, & Christopherson, 1992; Rich, 2002               |
| Dynamic Factors   |   |
| 13) Child currently has inappropriate sexual thoughts or fantasies                                  | Johnson, 1993b; Lane, 1991; Wiekowski et al., 1998  |
| 14) Sexual beliefs are distorted (i.e. justify sexual   | Berliner, Manaois, & Monastersky, 1986; Burton, 1997; Calder et al., 1997; Gil, 1993b;  |
| behaviours, believe sexual behaviour is normal)   | Horton, 2000; Johnson, 1993d; Lane, 1991; Rich, 2002  |
| 15) Lacking understanding of consequences of their sexual behaviours or lack empathy for the victim | Calder et al., 2001; Cunningham & MacFarlane, 1996; Gil, 1993b; Gilgun, 1996; Horton, 2000; Johnson, 1993d; Lane, 1991; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002   |
| 16) Deny the sexual behaviour or a problem with sexual behaviour                                    | Calder et al., 2001; Cunningham, & McFarlane, 1991, 1996; Johnson, 1993b; Lane, 1991; Rasmussen, Burton, & Christopherson, 1992; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002                                  |
| 17) Opportunities for continued sexual behaviour (i.e. access or not monitored)                     | Calder et al., 2001; Epps, 2001; Gil, 1993b; Horton, 2000; Johnson, 1993b; Lane, 1991   |
| 18) Trauma resulting from own sexual victimization  | Calder et al., 2001; Johnson, 1993d; Rich, 2002   |
| 19) Arousal to memories of own sexual abuse   | Hall, Mathews, & Pearce, 1998   |
| 20) Negative impact of nonsexual victimization experiences (i.e. physical, emotional abuse)         | Calder et al., 2001; Gil, 1993b; Johnson, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002; Weikowski et al., 1998  |
| 21) History of nonsexual aggression (i.e. harming animals, verbal/physical aggression, volatile)    | Gilgun, 2001; Johnson, 1993b; Rich, 2002; Wiekowski et al., 1998  |
| 22) Aggressive sexual thoughts or fantasies   | Johnson, 1993b  |
| 23) Believing that power is equated with safety   | Lane, 1991  |
| 24) Social skill deficits   | Augimeri et al., 2000; Bonner, Walker, & Berliner, 1999a; Gil, 1993b; Gilgun, 2001;<br>Horton, 2000; Johnson, 1993d; Lane, 1991; Levene et al., 2000; Ray & English, 1995                         |
| 25) Affective coping skill deficit  | Augimeri et al., 2000; Gilgun, 2001; Johnson, 1993d; Levene et al., 2000; Rich, 2002  |
| 26) Poor self esteem  | Berliner, Walker, & Bonner, 1999a; Lane, 1991; Calder et al., 2001; Gil, 1993b; Johnson, 1993d  |
| 27) Family that denies sexual behaviours  | Augimeri et al., 2000; Epps, 2001; Gil, 1993b; Johnson, 1993b; Levene et al., 2000; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002   |
| 28) Residing in a negative, unstable, and sexualized family environment                             | Augimeri et al., 2000; Bonner, Walker, Berliner, 1999b; Burton, Nesmith, Badten, 1997; Gilgun, 2001; Johnson, 1993b; Levene et al., 2000; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002; Wiekowski et al., 1998 |
| 29) Having an absent or rejecting parent  | Gilgun, 2001; Johnson, 1993b; Ray & English, 1995; Rich, 2002; Weikowski et al., 1998   |
| 30) Response to past or motivation for treatment  | Augimeri et al., 2000; Levene et al., 2000; Rich, 2002  |
| 31) Parental involvement in treatment   | Augimeri et al., 2000; Bonner, Walker, & Berliner, 1999b; Gil, 1993c; Johnson, 1993d; Levene et al., 2000   |

| ומסוכ ד. ד מסוטו מוו                       | avic 2. I avivi and county descriptions.   |  |   |
|--|--|--|---|
| Factor                                     | Yes  | Partially/possibly   | No  |
| Static Factors                             |  |  |   |
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviour Characteristics       | Characteristics  |  |   |
| Use of Force/Threat/<br>Violence           | During any sexual behaviour or in an attempt to keep any of the sexual behaviours a secret, child has ever used: • excessive force or violence • threatened to use force or violence • used intimidation against the victim • physical strength to gain compliance.  | During any sexual behaviour or in an attempt to keep sexual behaviour a secret, child may have used force/threat/or violence as outlined | Has <i>never</i> used any of the force/threat/violence methods outlined.                              |
| Coercion/<br>Manipulation                  | Child has ever used nonviolent means to attain cooperation during sexual behaviours which could have included, but are not limited to:  bribes • manipulation • tricks • coercion  | May have used nonviolent means to attain cooperation during sexual behaviours as outlined above.   | Has never have used nonviolent means to attain cooperation during sexual behaviours as outlined above |
| Pattern of Sexual<br>Behaviours            | Has ever engaged in a pattern of sexual behaviours which could be indicated by:  ☐ one victim on multiple occasions ☐ multiple victims ☐ pattern of inappropriate sexual behaviours/repetitive   | M4V have patter of sexual behaviours as outlined above.  | No known history of prior sexual behaviours as outlined above.  |
| Multiple Types of<br>Sexual Behaviours     | Has ever engaged in more than one type of sexual behaviour. Can include, but not limited to, 2 or more of the following: sexual touching over clothes; sexual touching under clothes; male and female victims, victims from multiple age groups; penetration with object, excessive masturbation; internet sex roomschat lines; forcing victim to sexually touch self; sexual touching above waist' sexual touching below waist; oral penetration; anal penetration; vaginal penetration; cross-dressing; obscene phone calls; penetration with penis; exhibitionism; stalking; frottage; kissing, viewed pornography; show pornography to victim; voyeurism; bestiality; sexual behaviour not listed. | May have engaged in multiple sexual behaviours, as outlined above.   | Has <i>never</i> engaged in more than one type of sexual behaviour.                                   |
| Penetration                                | Has ever penetrated or attempted to penetrate another (includes penetration with penis, object, finger).  □ attempted vaginal, oral, anal penetration □ completed vaginal, oral, anal penetration.   | May have ever penetrated or attempted to penetrate another (includes penetration with penis, object, finger).                            | Has never engaged in vaginal, oral, or anal penetration or attempted penetration of another.          |
| Selection based on<br>Vulnerability        | Has ever chosen at least one victim because of specific characteristics, which made them appear vulnerable. Victim characteristics were known to the child and may include, but are not limited to: those who are easy to fool, bribe, or force, no verbal ability to report; a person with intellectual deficits; a person who was vulnerable; person with trauma history; less assertive person; person with a known sexual victimization history; person who was asleep; person not physically able to protect self   | May have selected at least one victim because of their vulnerability.  | Did not choose any victim based on their vulnerability.   |
| 2.0 Victimization                          |  |  |   |
| Victim of sexual abuse                     | Known history of sexual abuse.   |  | No known history of sexual abuse  |
| Arousal during own<br>Sexual Victimization | Experienced sexual arousal during own sexual abuse   | May have experienced sexual arousal during own sexual abuse  | Did not experience sexual arousal during own sexual abuse   |
| Multiple Sexual<br>Offenders               | Has ever been sexually abused (any unwanted sexual contact/act) by more than one person. Offender need not have been charged or been of a chargeable age.  | May have been sexually abused by more than one person as outlined above.   | Has been sexually abused by<br>one person only  |
| Witnessed Violence                         | Has witnessed, been exposed to, or been privy to violence as noted by, but not limited to: family violence (seen or heard); witnessed violence between real people outside of the family; friends/peers have been harmed by violence   | May have witnessed, been exposed to, or been privy to violence as outlined above   | Has never witnessed, been exposed to, or been privy to violence as outlined above.                    |
|  |  |  |   |

## Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours 62

| Footor  | Vac   | Doction Is (second)   | S.N.   |
|---|---|---|--|
| 5.0 Family Environment  |   | t dittally possibly   | ONT  |
| Poor Family Sexual<br>Boundaries/<br>Sexualized Family<br>Environment | Child has ever been exposed to poor sexual boundaries in the home. Poor boundaries may include, but are not limited to: family nudity; history of prostitution in family, lack of privacy (e.g. bathroom, changing); knowledge of adult sexual behaviours (hearing/seeing); child used to meet parents sexual needs; has received age inappropriate sexual knowledge, perpetration in family (not including child's sexual behaviours); inappropriate displays of affection; exposure and/or access to explicit media; sexual talk in family that is denigrating, objectifying, disrespectful; more than one child sexually abused in family (not by this child); guardians confused about sexual boundaries/sexuality; photographed in nude or engaging in sexual acts | May have been exposed to inappropriate sexual boundaries within the family as outlined above.   | Child has <b>not</b> been exposed to poor sexual boundaries within the family.   |
| Dynamic factors   |   |   |  |
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviour Characteristics                                  | Characteristics   |   |  |
| Sexual Thoughts/<br>Fantasies   | Over the past 6 months has had inappropriate sexual thoughts or fantasies. Age inappropriate sexual fantasies/thoughts about things outside of what is natural and expected sexual behaviour for each age group** Inappropriate sexual thought/fantasies may be demonstrated through, but are not limited to: adult themes (e.g. 6 year old fantasizing about intercourse); the urge to sexually abuse during self-stimulation; thoughts/fantasies of sexual violence; thoughts/fantasies of sexual coercion; thoughts/fantasies of sexual aggression; fantasies/thoughts include age, size, or status differences; sexual fantasies/thought which include themes of power and control  | Over the past 6 months <b>may</b> have had an inappropriate sexual thought/fantasy as outlined above.   | Has never had an inappropriate sexual thought/fantasy, over the past 6 months.   |
| Distorted Sexual<br>Beliefs   | Currently has distorted sexual beliefs that are demonstrated through, but not limited to: justifying own sexual behaviours; anxiety regarding sexuality; confusion about own sexuality; anger regarding sexuality; confusion about sexual issues; sees own sexual behaviours as "normal"; confusion about appropriate and inappropriate sexual behaviours   | May currently have distorted sexual beliefs as demonstrated through those issues as demonstrated above  | Does not currently experience distorted sexual beliefs as demonstrated above.  |
| Lacks Understanding<br>of Consequences of<br>Sexual Behaviours        | Currently lacks understanding of consequences of behaviours as demonstrated through, but not limited to: does not understand the consequences of sexual behaviours to self, does not understand the consequences of sexual behaviours to other, does not think of consequences to self or other; is not concerned about the consequences to self or other; does not have age appropriate empathy for other  | May not currently consider the consequences to self OR other AND/OR may not currently be concerned about consequences to self OR other  | Currently able to understand consequences of sexual behaviours to self and other and is concerned about consequences to self and other.  |
| Sophisticated Sexual<br>Behaviours                                    | Has ever employed sophisticated means to engage in sexual behaviours with others. Sophisticated means may include, but are not limited to, sexual behaviours that were: strategic • well thought out • highly planned   | May have employed sophisticated means to engage in sexual behaviours with others  | Has never used sophisticated means used to engage in sexual behaviours.  |
| Denial  | Currently denies: any involvement in sexual behaviours and/or any problem with sexual behaviours  | Currently acknowledges involvement for some, but not all sexual behaviours. May acknowledge having some problem with sexual behaviour.  | Acknowledges involvement in all sexual behaviours, even if doesn't accept full responsibility. Recognizes inappropriateness of sexual behaviours.  |
| Opportunities for<br>Sexual Behaviour                                 | Over the next 6 months, child will have the opportunity to engage in continued sexual behaviours with others. Opportunities can include, but are not limited to: living with and/or allowed access to potential victims; guardians who are unable to control child; child will not receive adequate supervision  **consider all areas of life, e.g. school, extracurricular activities, and home.  Will rarely be monitored by people who are aware of the sexual behaviours.   | Over the next 6 months, child <i>may</i> have opportunity to engage in continued sexual behaviours with others. Therefore, will be monitored often, but not all of the time by people aware of the sexual behaviours. | Over the next 6 months, child will <b>not</b> have the opportunity in all realms (school, home, etc) to engage in continued sexual behaviours with others.  Monitored all the time by people who are aware of the sexual behaviours. |

Differentiating children with and without a history of repeated problematic sexual behaviours 64

| Factor   | Yes  | Partially/possibly   | No  |
|--|--|--|---|
| 5.0 Family Environment                         | ent  |  |   |
| Family in Denial                               | At least one legal guardian who has contact with the child denies the child's sexual behaviours. Denial may be demonstrated though, but is not limited to: do not acknowledge problem sexual behaviours; unwilling to cooperate with treatment; do not take responsibility for changes that need to happen; know little about the sexual behaviours, not willing to supervise the child; do not believe the sexual behaviours took place; do not believe the behaviours were sexual in nature  | At least <i>one</i> legal guardian who has contact with the child <i>may</i> deny the child's sexual behaviours as listed above.                             | No legal guardians who have contact with the child deny the child's sexual behaviours as listed above. All legal guardians acknowledge the child's sexual behaviours. |
| Family Instability                             | Over the past 6 months, 2 or more indicators of family instability were present. Instability can include, but is not limited to: a history of protective services, multiple parental figures, unexplained absent parent; family disruptions (e.g. divorce, out of home placements); strangers in and out of home; economic stressors, frequent residential moves; no sense of predictability/orderliness.  | Over the past 6 months, one family instability indicator was definitely present OR may have 2 or more indictors present as outlined above.                   | Over the past 6 months, <b>no</b> family instability indicators were present.   |
| Negative Home<br>Environment                   | Over the past 6 months, 2 or more factors indicating a negative home environment were present. A negative home environment may include, but is not limited to: unresolved abuse/trauma history inadequate parenting; alcohol/drug abuse; no sense of orderliness/predictability; isolation from extended family, poor anger management, social services involvement; family turmoil/arguments/violence; poor housing, stress, cultural conflicts, poor communication; poor parenting; inconsistent discipline; parents isolated form each other; guardian with psychiatric/emotional difficulties; age inappropriate expectation; poor child management; child is caretaker, police involvement; impaired attachment | Over the past 6 months, <i>one</i> negative home environmental factor was definitely present OR <i>may</i> have 2 or more factors present as outlined above. | Over the past 6 months, <b>no</b> negative home environmental factors were present.   |
| Parental/guardian<br>rejection                 | Rejecting behaviours have been directed at child by a parent/guardian, over the past 6 months.  Rejecting behaviours may be indicated by, but are not limited to:  at least one guardian dislikes child •guardian projects negative attitudes on to child  another child is favoured  another child is favoured  no apparent emotional connection to any guardian • child is isolated within family  child told they are moving to another placement   | May have experienced rejecting behaviours over the past 6 months, as outlined above.   | No known rejecting behaviours were present over the past 6 months, as outlined.   |
| 6.0 Intervention                               | Hee not recoverlad to carried haboriour cascife internantion to data will not annone in  | Child man be resistent to  | Will not be or is not resistant to  |
| Intervention                                   | rias not responded to sexual octaviour specific intervention; does not have access to sexual behaviour specific intervention; does not have access to sexual behaviour specific intervention; is or has been resistant to sexual behaviour specific intervention.  | Child may be resistant to treatment/intervention as demonstrated above.  | will not be on its not resistant to treatment/intervention as outlined above.   |
| No Parent/Guardian<br>Treatment<br>Involvement | No legal guardians/parents will be involved in child's sexual behaviour specific intervention/treatment.   | At least one guardian/parent will or might engage in their child's sexual behaviour specific intervention.   | All legal guardians/parents are willing and interested in involvement in child's sexual behaviour specific intervention.  |

Table 3: Intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) for all factors.

| Assessment variables                        | ICC    |
|---|--------|
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviours Characteristics       | (n=12) |
| Force/threat/violence                       | 1.0    |
| Coercion/manipulation                       | .96    |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours                | .94    |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours         | .94    |
| Penetration                                 | .94    |
| Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies                   | .78    |
| Distorted Sexual Beliefs                    | .78    |
| Lack Understanding                          | .83    |
| Sophisticated Sexual beliefs                | .05    |
| Denial                                      | .65    |
| Victim Selection                            | .91    |
| Opportunities for Sexual Behaviours         | .53    |
| 2.0 Victimization                           | .55    |
| Victim of Sexual Abuse                      | 1.0    |
| Trauma from own Sexual Victimization        | .92    |
| Arousal during of Sexual Victimization      | 1.0    |
| Arousal to Memories of Sexual Victimization | 1.0    |
| Multiple Offenders                          | .97    |
| Impact of Nonsexual Abuse                   | .85    |
| Witness Violence                            | .91    |
| 3.0 Interpersonal Characteristics           | .,,    |
| Impulsivity                                 | .86    |
| History of Nonsexual Aggression             | .81    |
| Aggressive Thoughts/Fantasies               | .43    |
| Power Based Beliefs                         | .32    |
| 4. 0 Personal Characteristics               |        |
| Social Skill Deficits                       | 1.0    |
| Affective Coping Skill Deficit              | 29     |
| Poor Self-esteem                            | .96    |
| 5.0 Family Environment                      | ,      |
| Family in Denial                            | .59    |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries               | .79    |
| Negative Home Environment                   | .86    |
| Family Instability                          | .71    |
| Guardian Rejection                          | .74    |
| 6.0 Intervention                            | ,      |
| No Response to Treatment/Intervention       | .78    |
| No Guardian Treatment Involvement           | .52    |

Table 4: Percentage of children coded in each category and missing responses for all factors in main study.

| Assessment variables                        | n  | No % | PP % | Yes % | Non-<br>response/<br>Missing % |
|---|----|------|------|-------|--------------------------------|
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviours Characteristics       |    |      |      |       |                                |
| Force/threat/violence                       | 62 | 58.1 | 19.4 | 22.6  | 0                              |
| Coercion/manipulation                       | 62 | 32.3 | 29.0 | 35.5  | 3.2                            |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours                | 62 | 21.0 | 21.0 | 58.1  | 0                              |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours         | 62 | 43.5 | 21.0 | 35.5  | 0                              |
| Penetration                                 | 62 | 11.3 | 4,8  | 83,9  | 0                              |
| Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies                   | 62 | 29.0 | 37.1 | 25.8  | 8.1                            |
| Distorted Sexual Beliefs                    | 62 | 6.5  | 30.6 | 62.9  | 0                              |
| Lack Understanding                          | 62 | 12.9 | 21.0 | 66.1  | 0                              |
| Sophisticated Sexual beliefs                | 62 | 46.8 | 22.6 | 30.6  | 0                              |
| Denial                                      | 62 | 30.6 | 45.2 | 24.2  | 0                              |
| Victim Selection                            | 62 | 38.7 | 24.2 | 37.1  | 0                              |
| 2.0 Victimization                           |    |      |      |       |                                |
| Victim of Sexual Abuse                      | 62 | 48.4 | 0    | 51.6  | 0                              |
| Trauma from own Sexual Victimization        | 32 | 6.3  | 28.1 | 62.5  | 3.1                            |
| Arousal during of Sexual Victimization      | 32 | 25.0 | 56.3 | 12.5  | 6.3                            |
| Arousal to Memories of Sexual Victimization | 32 | 31.3 | 56.3 | 0     | 12.5                           |
| Multiple Offenders                          | 32 | 46.9 | 28.1 | 18.8  | 6.3                            |
| Impact of Nonsexual Abuse                   | 62 | 30.6 | 14.5 | 51.6  | 3.2                            |
| Witness Violence                            | 62 | 22.6 | 16.1 | 58.1  | 3.2                            |
| 3.0 Interpersonal Characteristics           |    |      |      |       |                                |
| Impulsivity                                 | 62 | 21.0 | 12.9 | 66.1  | 0                              |
| History of Nonsexual Aggression             | 62 | 19.4 | 6.5  | 74.2  | 0                              |
| 4. 0 Personal Characteristics               |    |      |      |       |                                |
| Social Skill Deficits                       | 62 | 4,8  | 11.3 | 83,9  | 0                              |
| Poor Self-esteem                            | 62 | 8.1  | 25.8 | 66.1  | 0                              |
| 5.0 Family Environment                      |    |      |      |       |                                |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries               | 62 | 14.5 | 24.2 | 61.3  | 0                              |
| Negative Home Environment                   | 62 | 24.2 | 21.0 | 54.8  | 0                              |
| Family Instability                          | 62 | 32.3 | 16.1 | 51.6  | 0                              |
| Guardian Rejection                          | 62 | 45.2 | 32.3 | 22.6  | 0                              |
| 6.0 Intervention                            |    |      |      |       |                                |
| No Response to Treatment/Intervention       | 62 | 56.5 | 24.2 | 19.4  | 0                              |

Note: PP=partially/possibly present

Table 5: Nominal demographic data for the repeated and nonrepeated groups.

| Damagnahia  |    | Repeated      | Nonrepeated |
|---|----|---------------|-------------|
| Demographic   | N  | $\sqrt[n]{n}$ | %(n)        |
| Caucasian   | 58 | 71.4(20)      | 63.3 (19)   |
| Current Residence   | 59 |               |             |
| Parental home   |    | 37.9(11)      | 50.0 (15)   |
| Group home  |    | 31.0(9)       | 20.0(6)     |
| Foster home   |    | 24.1(7)       | 10.0(3)     |
| Relatives   |    | 3.4(1)        | 6.7(2)      |
| Other <sup>a</sup>  |    | 3.4(1)        | 13.3 (4)    |
| Family involved in assessment <sup>b</sup>                    | 50 | 70.8 (17)     | 88.5 (23)   |
| Primarily reared by:  | 58 | , ,           | • /         |
| Biological parents only                                       |    | 40.7(11)      | 51.6 (16)   |
| At least 1 biological parent c                                |    | 41.9 (13)     | 44.4 (12)   |
| Education   |    |               | ()          |
| Special Education (yes)                                       | 57 | 42.8 (12)     | 44.8 (13)   |
| Learning disabilities (yes)                                   | 56 | 25.0 (7)      | 21.4 (6)    |
| Average (90-109) intellectual functioning <sup>d</sup>        | 55 | 58.6 (17)     | 65.3 (17)   |
| Most recent reprimand was for <i>contact</i> sexual behaviour | 49 | 96.1 (25)     | 91.3 (21)   |
| Reprimand for most recent behaviours <sup>e</sup>             | 60 | ,             | ` /         |
| School suspension   |    | 13.7(4)       | 6.4(2)      |
| Referral to agency  |    | 48.3 (14)     | 35.5 (11)   |
| Police warning  |    | 10.3(3)       | 12.9 (4)    |
| Conviction  |    | 0             | 3.2(1)      |
| Parental warning  |    | 62.1(18)      | 48.3 (15)   |
| School warning  |    | 17.2 (5)      | 3.2(1)      |
| Child protection warning                                      |    | 62.1 (18)     | 74.1 (23)   |
| Other adult warning <sup>f</sup>                              |    | 37.9 (11)     | 32.2 (10)   |
| Prior reprimands (repeated group)                             | 31 | ,             | · ´         |
| School suspension   |    | 12.9(4)       |             |
| Referral to agency  |    | 25.8 (8)      |             |
| Police warning  |    | 3.2(1)        |             |
| Conviction  |    | 0             |             |
| Parental warning  |    | 87.1 (27)     |             |
| School warning  |    | 32.3 (10)     |             |
| Child protection warning                                      |    | 25.8(8)       |             |
| Other adult warning <sup>g</sup>                              |    | 32.3 (10)     |             |

Note: a residential treatment, friends b both biological parents attended the assessment for 14 children e includes involvement from step, foster parents, grandparents, single parent d this information was documented for 43.6% and suspected for others: 2 (3.2) in superior range with 1 in each group e a total of 17 (27.4%) children received 1 reprimand, 20 (32.3%) received 2 reprimands, and 22 (35.5%) had 3 or more reprimands that precipitated the current assessment fincludes treatment centre staff, residential staff, foster home, and doctor (16.1%) includes removal from residence (n=5), residential/treatment centre staff warning (n=2), foster home warning (n=1), unknown (n=2)\*p<.05

Table 6: Means and standard deviations for data assessed as continuous measures for the repeated and nonrepeated groups.

| Demographic                                | aphic Repeated |       | Nonrepeated |       |  |
|--|----------------|-------|-------------|-------|--|
| Continuous Demographic Variables           | M (n)          | SD    | M (n)       | SD    |  |
| Number of residential moves                | 3.81 (26)      | 2.86  | 3.45 (29)   | 2.34  |  |
| Number of primary caregivers               | 3.89 (29)      | 2.86  | 3.37 (30)   | 1.63  |  |
| Number of changes in primary caregivers    | 2.70 (28)      | 2.01  | 1.95 (29)   | 1.65  |  |
| Grade at assessment <sup>a</sup>           | 4.24 (21)      | 1.67  | 5.11 (27)   | 1.67  |  |
| Age first inappropriate sexual behaviour** | 72.44 (27)     | 29.13 | 101.25 (28) | 29.06 |  |

Note: a does not include 2 children who were in senior kindergarten, 1 child who was in a section 20 classroom (grade unknown), 1 child who was in a diagnostic classroom (grade unknown), 1 child in a day treatment program (grade unknown), 9 grade unknown. \* p<.01

Table 7: Comparing the repeated and nonrepeated groups on the presence of each factor.

| A                                     |           | Nonrepeated |           |           | Repeated  |            | -/1             |
|---------------------------------------|-----------|-------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|------------|-----------------|
| Assessment variables                  | No (n)    | PP(n)       | Yes $(n)$ | No (n)    | PP (n)    | Yes (n)    | -               |
| 1.0 Sexual Behaviours Characteristics |           |             |           |           |           |            |                 |
| Force/threat/violence                 | 77.4 (24) | 12.9 (4)    | 9.7 (3)   | 38.7 (12) | 25.8 (8)  | 35.5 (11)  | **0+            |
| Coercion/manipulation                 | 40.0 (12) | 26.7 (8)    | 33.3 (10) | 26.7 (8)  | 33.3 (10) | 40.0 (12)  | .1 <del>4</del> |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours          | 38.7 (12) | 25.8(8)     | 35.5 (11) | 3.2 (1)   | 16.1 (5)  | 80.6 (25)  | .49***          |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours   | 45.2 (14) | 29.0 (9)    | 25.8 (8)  | 41.9 (13) | 12.9 (4)  | 45.2 (14)  | .24             |
| Penetration                           | 22.6(7)   | 9.7(3)      | 67.7 (21) | 0         | 0         | 100.0 (31) | .44**           |
| Sexual Thoughts/Fantasies             | 42.9 (12) | 42.9 (12)   | 14.3 (4)  | 20.7 (6)  | 37.9 (11) | 41.4 (12)  | .33*            |
| Distorted Sexual Beliefs              | 3.2 (1)   | 41.9 (13)   | 54.8 (17) | 9.7(3)    | 19.4 (6)  | 71.0 (22)  | .26             |
| Lack Understanding                    | 22.6(7)   | 19.4 (6)    | 58.1 (18) | 3.2 (1)   | 22.6 (7)  | 74.2 (23)  | .29             |
| Sophisticated Sexual beliefs          | 54.8 (17) | 22.6 (7)    | 22.6 (7)  | 38.7 (12) | 22.6 (7)  | 38.7 (12)  | .19             |
| Denial                                | 29.0(9)   | 41.9 (13)   | 29.0(9)   | 32.3 (10) | 48.4 (15) | 19.4 (6)   | .11             |
| Victim Selection                      | 41.9 (13) | 29.0 (9)    | 29.0 (9)  | 35.5 (11) | 19.4 (6)  | 45.2 (14)  | .17             |
| 2.0 Victimization                     |           |             |           |           |           |            |                 |
| Victim of Sexual abuse                | 64.5 (20) | ı           | 35.5 (11) | 32.3 (10) |           | 67.7 (21)  | .32**           |
| Arousal During own Abuse              | 20.0 (2)  | 70.0 (7)    | 10.0(1)   | 30.0 (6)  | 55.0 (11) | 15.0(3)    | .14             |
| Trauma from Own Sexual Abuse          | 8.3 (1)   | 25.0 (3)    | 66.7 (8)  | 4.8 (1)   | 38.1 (8)  | 57.1 (12)  | 4               |
| Multiple Offenders                    | 54.5 (6)  | 18.2(2)     | 27.3 (3)  | 47.4 (9)  | 36.8 (7)  | 15.8 (3)   | .21             |
| Impact of Nonsexual Abuse             | 46.7 (14) | 13.3 (4)    | 40.0 (12) | 16.7 (5)  | 16.7 (5)  | 66.7 (20)  | .33*            |
| Witness Violence                      | 33.3 (10) | 13.3 (4)    | 53.3 (16) | 13.3 (4)  | 20.0 (6)  | 66.7 (20)  | .24             |
| 3.0 Interpersonal Characteristics     |           |             |           |           |           |            | ,               |
| Impulsivity                           | 29.0 (9)  | 19.4 (6)    | 51.6 (16) | 12.9 (4)  | 6.5(2)    | 80.6 (25)  | .31             |
| History Nonsexual Aggression          | 32.3 (10) | 9.7 (3)     | 58.1 (18) | 6.5(2)    | 3.2(1)    | 90.3 (28)  | .37**           |
| 4. 0 Personal Characteristics         |           |             |           |           |           |            |                 |
| Social Skill Deficits                 | 9.7 (3)   | 16.1 (5)    | 74.2 (23) | 0         | 6.5(2)    | 93.5 (29)  | . 38            |
| Poor Self-esteem                      | 9.7 (3)   | 29.0 (9)    | 61.3 (19) | 6.5(2)    | 22.6 (7)  | 71.0 (22)  | .10             |
| 5.0 Family Environment                |           |             |           |           |           |            |                 |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries         | 25.8 (8)  | 19.4 (6)    | 54.8 (17) | 3.2 (1)   | 29.0 (9)  | 67.7 (21)  | .32*            |
| Negative Home Environment             | 25.8 (8)  | 29.0 (9)    | 45.2 (14) | 22.6 (7)  | 12.9 (4)  | 64.5 (20)  | .22             |
| Family Instability                    | 35.5 (11) | 16.1 (5)    | 48.4 (15) | 29.0 (9)  | 16.1 (5)  | 54.8 (17)  | .07             |
| Guardian Rejection                    | 47.4 (15) | 35.5 (11)   | 16.1 (5)  | 41.9 (13) | 29.0 (9)  | 29.0 (9)   | .15             |
| 6.0 Intervention                      | (6)       | (F) ) CC    | 6         | 46.000    | (6) (3)   | 30.0.00    | 7.0             |
| No Kesponse to Treatment intervention | 0/./(21)  | (/) 0.77    | 9.7 (3)   | 42.2 (14) | (0) 6.67  | (%) 0.67   | /7:             |

Note: PP = Partially/possibly present  $p < .05 \cdot p < .01 \cdot p < .001 \cdot p = .052 \cdot b = .08$ 

Table 8: Comparison of coding scheme in differentiating repeated and nonrepeated groups.

|                                     | (            | Coding Scheme                                     | 2         |
|-------------------------------------|--------------|---|-----------|
| Assessment variables                | $0,1,2,^{a}$ | $1 = 0_{p}$                                       | $1=2^{b}$ |
| 1.0                                 |              | <del>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </del> |           |
| Force/threat/violence               | .40**        | 5.90**  | 9.54**    |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours        | .49***       | 12.98***  | 11.78**   |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours | .44**        | 11.92***  | 7.89**    |
| Sexual Thoughts/fantasies           | .33*         | 5.17*   | ns        |
| 2.0                                 |              |   |           |
| Victim of Sexual Abuse              | .32**        | 6.45**  | 6.45**    |
| Impact of Nonsexual Abuse           | .33*         | 4.28*   | 6.24**    |
| 3.0                                 |              |   |           |
| History Nonsexual Aggression        | .37**        | 8.42**  | 6.61**    |
| 5.0                                 |              |   |           |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries       | .32*         | ns  | 6.37**    |

Note: 0=No (not present), 1=Partially/possibly present, 2=Yes (present)

Table 9: Item-total correlations and comparisons of predictive accuracy between the Total Score and individual factors with and without missing data.

|                                     | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |                     | Total Score                  |             |
|-------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---------------------|------------------------------|-------------|
| Final assessment variables          | AUC (95% CI, SE)                      | 0=missing           | no missing                   | Item-total  |
|                                     |                                       | (n=62) $Z_{\Delta}$ | data ( $n=55$ ) $Z_{\Delta}$ | Correlation |
| 1.0                                 |                                       |                     |                              |             |
| Force/threat/violence               | .69** (5582, .068)                    | 0.18*               | 0.15                         | .38**       |
| Pattern of Sexual Behaviours        | .75***(.6387, .063)                   | 0.11                | 0.13                         | .76***      |
| Multiple Types of Sexual Behaviours | .66* (.5279, .070)                    | 0.20*               | 0.23                         | .61**       |
| Sexual Thoughts/fantasies           | .66** (.5380, .070)                   | 0.19**              | 0.18**                       | .63**       |
| 2.0                                 |                                       |                     |                              |             |
| Victim of Sexual Abuse              | .66* (.5279, .070)                    | 0.20*               | 0.15                         | .38**       |
| Impact of Nonsexual Abuse           | .67* (.5281, .074)                    | 0.20**              | 0.19**                       | .62***      |
| 3.0                                 |                                       |                     |                              |             |
| History Nonsexual Aggression        | .66** (.5380, .075)                   | 0.19**              | 0.18*                        | .65***      |
| 5.0                                 |                                       |                     |                              |             |
| Poor Family Sexual Boundaries       | .60 (.4574, .072)                     | 0.26***             | 0.27***                      | .54***      |

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05 \*\* p < .01 \*\*\* p < .001

<sup>0, 1, 2 =</sup> original 3-point coding scheme, 1=0 indicates partially/possibly present was recoded into No

<sup>1=2</sup> indicates partially/possibly present was recoded into Yes a Cramer's V, b  $\chi^2$  \* p < .05 \*\* p < .01 \*\*\*p < .001



## University of Toronto

## Staff Participation ASRP Project Consent Form

I understand that a multi-agency project is being conducted with agencies in Ontario and the United States regarding children under 12 years of age who have engaged in harmful sexual behaviours. I am aware that this project is being coordinated by Tracey Curwen and is being conducted as a requirement of a doctoral program at the University of Toronto and as such is being supervised by Dr. Jennifer Jenkins of the University of Toronto. I am aware that the agency that I am employed with has been identified to participate in the project as we conduct assessments of children under 12 who fit the research criteria. I have been asked to participate, as I am currently involved in the assessments of children who engage in sexual behaviours.

I understand that the information requested by the researcher will include information regarding my findings from the assessment. More specifically, the information requested will be related to the child's history, family circumstances, mental health involvement, sexual victimization, and sexual behaviours. I understand that I will complete two forms. The first form will require me to provide demographic information on the child's family composition, academic and social service history, past treatment, and medications. I understand that the second form will require me to rate a number of variables as present, partially/possibly present/not present for the child or whether the information is unknown.

I understand that this information is specifically being collected as a means of identifying factors associated with recidivism. I understand that if I choose not to participate in this project, that this decision will not change my roles and responsibilities in my current position. I also understand that I am free, at any point, to discontinue my participation with the project. I am also aware that should I chose to participate in this project, the services provided to my clients will not be impacted in any way and that I should not change the manner in which I provide the services.

I am aware that identifying information will never be provided to the researcher and, therefore, will never appear in any research report. I am aware that each child's information will be combined with that of other children and will be presented as averages from groups of individuals. I am aware that the information gathered for this research will assist with the investigation into the consequences of inappropriate sexual behaviours. Along with the completion of a doctoral dissertation, aspects of the research may be presented at conferences and/or published in peer-reviewed journals. I am also aware that this agency will be provided a copy of the research results and that I will be permitted access to this should I request it. I understand that this research will assist treatment providers in their work with those children who have been identified as engaging in inappropriate sexual behaviours and their families.

I have read this consent form and the accompanying letter and I understand the contents. Any questions that I had have been answered to my satisfaction. I hearby consent to participating in this research project by completing the required data collection forms.

| Participant's Name      | Today's Date         |   |
|-------------------------|----------------------|---|
| Participant's Signature | Signature of Witness | _ |

## <12ASRP Project **Inclusion Criteria**

Child must have been under 12 the last time they were known to have engaged in a sexual behaviour against another.

Child MUST be in the low average or above range of Intelligence (IQ).

Child MUST have a victim (e.g. excessive masturbation in private as only sexual behaviour does not qualify)

The child must ALSO meet at least one of the following criteria to be eligible for inclusion.

| The category must be related to the child's sexual behaviour (please check all that apply).                           |
|---|
| At least one of the child's victims was   |
| ☐ 3 or more years younger   |
| ☐ Developmentally younger (e.g. developmentally delayed)  |
| ☐ Physically much smaller   |
| ☐ the child was in a position of responsibility over at least one victim (e.g. babysitting, older sibling, caretaker) |
| ☐ the child dominated at least one of their sexual behaviour victims  |
| ☐ the child threatened at least one of their sexual behaviour victims   |
| ☐ the child used coercion to gain compliance with at least one victim   |
| ☐ the child used force against at least one of their victims  |
| ☐ the child has engaged in voyeurism  |
| ☐ the child has exposed him/herself and this was unwanted by at least one victim                                      |
| ☐ the child has self-stimulated in public (e.g. at school on a number of occasions and in view of others).            |
| ☐ the child has had sexual contact with an animal:  |
| □ pet - type  |
| ☐ other animal (not a pet)  |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |